University of Alberta

Immunoelectrophoretic Detection of DNA Adducts in White Blood Cells

by

Adrienne M LeBlanc



A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

> Master of Science in Environmental Health Sciences

Department of Public Health Sciences

Edmonton, Alberta Fall 2007

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-33293-1 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-33293-1

NOTICE:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis.



Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.



ABSTRACT

A fluorescence immunoassay with capillary electrophoresis and laser induced fluorescence (FIA/CE/LIF) technique was developed and tested suitable for the detection of benzo(a)pyrene-diol-epoxide (BPDE) DNA adducts in mononuclear white blood cells (MNCs). The developed method was tested for both *in vitro* and biomonitoring applications. Firstly, *in vitro* exposure of MNCs to both BPDE and buthionine sulfoximine, a glutathione depleting agent, resulted in an increase in adducts compared to BPDE exposure alone. In carrying out this experiment, we confirmed the important role of glutathione in BPDE inactivation in MNCs, and validated the use of FIA/CE/LIF for in vitro studies of BPDE-DNA adducts. To test the suitability for human biomonitoring, FIA/CE/LIF analysis was performed on MNCs of smokers. The adducts were detectable, however not quantifiable. Further improvements to sensitivity, as well as assessment of adducts in MNCs from other smokers, will help to identify whether FIA/CE/LIF is an appropriate technique for human biomonitoring of BPDE-DNA adducts.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to acknowledge a number of people for helping during my program. Firstly, I gratefully and sincerely thank my supervisor, Dr. X. Chris Le, for his encouragement, advice, and patience. I would also like to express thanks to Kristi Lew and Li Xie for their tremendous support in this project. I appreciate all the help from my colleagues in the lab, and acknowledge all those who donated blood for this project. And last but not least, I thank my family and friends for all their love and support, and especially my Mom and Brian, for their endless encouragement and belief in me.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter 1	Introd	luction
1.1	Benzo	(a)pyrene 1
1.2	Bioma	rkers4
	1.2.1	Biomarkers of Exposure 4
	1.2.2	Biomarkers of Effect
	1.2.3	Biomarkers of Susceptibility 5
	1.2.4	Biomarkers in Risk Assessment
1.3	DNA A	Adducts as Biomarkers7
	1.3.1	Chemical Carcinogenesis7
	1.3.2	Carcinogen Exposure, DNA Adducts and Cancer
	1.3.3	BPDE-DNA Adducts as Biomarkers
		1.3.3.1 BPDE-DNA Adducts and BaP Exposure 10
		1.3.3.2 BPDE-DNA Adducts and Carcinogenesis
	1.3.4	Limitations of DNA Adducts as Biomarkers
1.4	Tech	niques for Measuring BPDE-DNA Adducts
	1.4.1	³² P-postlabelling Assay
	1.4.2	Immunoassays16
		1.4.2.1 FIA/CE/LIF 17
	1.4.3	Mass Spectrometry
	1.4.4	Gene or Sequence Specific Assays

1.5	BPDE-DNA Adduct Detection in White Blood Cells	25
	1.5.1 Mononuclear White Blood Cells	25
	1.5.2 FIA/CE/LIF for BPDE-DNA Adduct Detection in MNCs	26
1.6	FIA/CE/LIF In vitro Application: Glutathione Involvement in BPDE-	
	DNA Adduct Formation	27
1.7	FIA/CE/LIF Biomonitoring Application: Detection of BPDE-DNA	
	Adducts in Smokers	29
1.8	Thesis Objectives	31
1.9	References	32

Chapter 2 Development of FIA/CE/LIF for the Detection of BPDE-DNA

	Addu	cts in Mononuclear White Blood Cells	42
2.2	Exper	imental Methods	44
	2.2.1	Development of BPDE-DNA Adduct Detection Method	44
		2.2.1.1 BPDE preparation	44
		2.2.1.2 Mononuclear Cell Isolation	44
		2.2.1.3 BPDE Incubation	45
		2.2.1.4 DNA Isolation	45
		2.2.1.5 FIA/CE/LIF	46
	2.2.2	BPDE Dose-Response Assessment	50
		2.2.2.1 BPDE preparation	50
		2.2.2.2 Mononuclear Cell Isolation and BPDE Incubation	51

2.5	Refere	ences	74
2.4	Conclu	usion	72
	2.3.2	BPDE Dose-Response Assessment	68
		2.3.1.4 CE/LIF Data Analysis	63
		2.3.1.3 Immunoelectrophoresis Method Optimization	55
		2.3.1.2 DNA Isolation	53
		2.3.1.1 MNC Isolation	52
		Method	52
	2.3.1	Development and Optimization of BPDE-DNA Adduct I	Detection
2.3	Result	s and Discussion	52
		2.2.2.5 CE/LIF Data Analysis	52
		2.2.2.4 FIA-CE-LIF	51
		2.2.2.3 DNA Isolation	51

3.1	Introduction	. 77
3.2	Experimental Methods	. 79
3.3	Results	. 80
3.4	Discussion	. 84
3.5	Conclusion	. 8 6
3.6	References	. 8 8

Chapter 4	Detection of BPDE-DNA Adducts in MNCs of Smokers	
4.1	Introduction	
4.2	Experimental Methods	
4.3	Results and Discussion	
4.4	Conclusion	
4.5	References	

Chapter 5	Conclusions and Future Work	
Chapter 5	Conclusions and Future work	<i>.</i>

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1	The Effect of Varying Antibody Molar Ratios on RPAs and Total Peak
	Areas in BPDE-DNA Adduct Analysis of MNCs56
Table 2.2	Average RPAs and Standard Errors from BPDE-DNA Adduct Analysis of
	MNCs Using a 2 ⁰ :1 ⁰ Antibody Ratio of 6:1
Table 2.3	The Effect of BSA and IgG on BPDE-DNA Adduct Complex RPAs 58
Table 2.4	Effect of Antibody Incubation Time on RPA from FIA/CE/LIF Analysis of
	MNCs Exposed to 0.25 uM or 0.50 uM BPDE 59
Table 2.5	Average RPA and Standard Errors from BPDE-DNA Adduct Analysis of
	MNCs Exposed to Various Concentrations of BPDE
Table 3.1	Average RPAs and Standard Errors from BPDE-DNA Adduct Analysis of
	MNCs Exposed to 150 uM BSO and 0.5 uM BPDE 81
Table 3.2	Cell Viabilities Following Exposure to 150 uM BSO and/or 0.5 uM
	BPDE

/

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1(a)	The major metabolic pathway of benzo(a)pyrene leading to the ultimate
	carcinogen BPDE
Figure 1.1(b)	Structure of BPDE-N ² -deoxyguanosine, the major BPDE-DNA adduct 3
Figure 1.2	Major steps of the ³² P-postlabelling assay
Figure 1.3	Illustration of a fluorescence immunoassay
Figure 1.4	Movement of individual molecules through a capillary in CE 21
Figure 1.5	Strategy for quantitation of BPDE-deoxyguanosine adducts at specific
	sites within a DNA sequence
Figure 2.1	Schematic of the CE-LIF laboratory-built instrument
Figure 2.2	Effect of antibody incubation time on adduct complex formation
Figure 2.3	Effect of electric field strength on CE separation
Figure 2.4	Overlay of a control electropherogram and a typical 1.0 uM BPDE sample
	electropherogram
Figure 2.5(a)	BPDE-DNA adduct analysis of 2^0 and 1^0 antibodies only (noDNA) 67
Figure 2.5(b)	BPDE-DNA adduct analysis following cellular exposure to 1.0 uM
	BPDE

Figure 2.6	Electropherograms from BPDE-DNA adduct analysis following cellular
	exposure to varying concentrations of BPDE70
Figure 2.7	Dose-response relationship between BPDE concentration and DNA adduct
	complex relative peak areas71
Figure 3.1	Structures of BPDE enantiomers and their resultant GSH conjugates 78
Figure 3.2	Sample electropherograms from FIA/CE/LIF adduct analysis following
	cellular exposure to 150 uM BSO only, 0.5 uM BPDE only, or 150 uM
	BSO + 0.5 uM BPDE
Figure 4.1	Electropherograms from BPDE-DNA adduct analysis of MNCs from 2
	smokers and 1 non-smoker94

•

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

1°-Ab	Primary antibody
2°-Ab	Secondary antibody (fluorescently labeled antibody)
AMS	Accelerated mass spectrometry
BaP	Benzo(a)pyrene
BPDE	Benzo(a)pyrene-diol-epoxide
BPDE-dG	BPDE-N ² -deoxyguanosine
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
BSO	Buthionine sulfoximine
CE	Capillary electrophoresis
CIA	Chemiluminescence immunoassays
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays
EPF	Electrophoretic force
EOF	Electroosmotic force
ESI	Electrospray ionization
FIA	Fluorescence immunoassays
FIA/CE/LIF	Fluorescence immunoassay with capillary electrophoresis and laser
	induced fluorescence
GC	Gas chromatography
γ-GCS	γ-glutamylcysteine synthetase
GSH	Glutathione
GST	Glutathione-S-transferase
HPLC	High performance liquid chromatography
i.d.	Inner diameter
IgG	Immunoglobulin G
LC	Liquid chromatography
LIF	Laser-induced fluorescence
LMPCR	Ligation-mediated polymerase chain reaction
MNC	Mononuclear white blood cell
MS	Mass spectrometry

- PAH Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon
- PBS Phosphate buffered saline
- PMT Photomultiplier tube
- RBC Red blood cell
- RIA Radioimmunoassays
- RPA Relative peak area
- SE Standard error
- TG Tris-glycine
- TLC Thin layer chromatography
- TMR Tetramethyl rhodamine

Chapter 1 Introduction

1.1 Benzo(a)pyrene

Benzo(a)pyrene (BaP) is a carcinogenic polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon (PAH) formed via the incomplete combustion of organic substances [1]. Sources of BaP include cigarette smoke, coal burning, automobile exhaust, and smoked foods. It is also found in tar and asphalt, as well as from natural sources such as forest fires, grass fires, and volcanic eruptions [2]. As BaP is produced from a variety of sources, it is widespread in the environment. Due to BaP's low water solubility, low vapor pressure, and high octanol-water partition coefficient, environmental BaP persists in soil and sediment [1,3,4]. A small percentage of BaP partitions into air, water, and biota.

Human exposure can occur via ingestion of smoked foods, cigarette smoking, and inhalation of contaminated air [5]. The primary source of BaP exposure in non-smokers is food, which accounts for 97-99% of total BaP exposure [1,3]. The concentration of BaP in foods will vary with the type of food, surrounding environment, and the method of cooking. Minor BaP exposure is attributed to air, water, and soil; the BaP concentrations will vary considerably depending on the season, rural or urban location, and surrounding industry. The average total daily intake of BaP has been estimated to be $2.2 \mu g/day$; however, this value may be elevated in heavy smokers [3].

The International Agency for Research on Cancer recently changed the classification of BaP from a probable human carcinogen (Group 2) to a known human carcinogen (Group 1) [6]. BaP is considered to be a cause of lung, skin, and bladder cancers in humans [7]. Once BaP is taken up in the body, it is converted to the highly reactive benzo(a)pyrene-diol-epoxide (BPDE); as shown in Figure 1.1a, epoxide hydrolase and cytochrome P450 enzymes are responsible for this conversion [8]. The epoxide group of BPDE is highly electrophilic and can covalently bind to nucleophilic regions of DNA. This leads to the formation of BPDE-DNA adducts. The major BPDE-DNA adduct, BPDE-N²-deoxyguanosine (BPDE-dG), is formed when the epoxide group of BPDE covalently binds to the 2-amine position of a guanine base (Figure 1.1b) [9].

BPDE-DNA adducts may cause genetic mutations and/or cause chromosomal instability. For example, BPDE-DNA adducts have been known to cause $GC \rightarrow TA$ transversions [10]. If the adduct or the resultant DNA damage is not repaired, this may potentially cause chemical carcinogenesis.

As BPDE-DNA adduct formation is an important step in BaP carcinogenicity, the analysis and characterization of BPDE-DNA adducts may help to improve cancer risk assessments. This thesis focuses on the development of a new method for BPDE-DNA adduct analysis in hopes of improving the sensitivity and specificity of currently used methods.



Figure 1.1 (a) The major metabolic pathway of benzo(a)pyrene leading to the ultimate carcinogen, benzo(a)pyrene-7,8-diol-9,10-epoxide (BPDE). CYP, cytochrome P450; EH, epoxide hydrolase. (b) Structure of BPDE-N²-deoxyguanosine, the major BPDE-DNA adduct. [8]

1.2 Biomarkers

The US National Research Council defines biological markers as indicators that signal events in biologic systems or samples [11]. They are used to clarify the relationships between xenobiotic exposure and health impairment. Biological markers, or biomarkers, can be measured in body fluids, cells, or tissues, with blood and urine being the most common specimen choice. Biomarkers are generally categorized into three types: markers of exposure, markers of effect, and markers of susceptibility.

1.2.1 Biomarkers of Exposure

A biomarker of exposure is an exogenous chemical, its metabolites, or the product of an interaction between the chemical and a target molecule or cell [12]. Biomarkers of exposure are the most useful and most common marker for environmental health research. They provide reasonable estimates of individual exposure, taking into account all routes of exposure and inter-individual variations in absorption, distribution, metabolism and excretion [13]. Within the category of biomarkers of exposure, a further classification can be made into markers of internal dose and markers of biologically effective dose. Markers of internal dose represent the amount of xenobiotic that has entered the body of an individual, and include measures of the parent compound (eg. lead in blood [14]) or its metabolites (eg. urinary cotinine, a metabolite of nicotine [15]). Markers of the biologically effective dose indicate the amount of material that has interacted with the critical cellular macromolecules [11]. Examples include DNA

adducts, such as aflatoxin B_1 -DNA adducts in urine [16], and protein adducts, such as 4aminobiphenyl-hemoglobin adducts in blood [17].

1.2.2 Biomarkers of Effect

A biomarker of effect is a measurable biochemical, physiological, or other alteration in a biological system resulting from exposure, that is predictive of health impairment or potential health impairment [12]. Biomarkers of effect represent functional or structural changes to organs or tissues. Examples include retinol binding protein in urine following exposure to cadmium [18], and γ -aminolevulinic acid in plasma or urine following exposure to lead [14]. DNA adducts may also provide an indication of early biological effects.

1.2.3 Biomarkers of Susceptibility

A biomarker of susceptibility is an indicator of an inherent or acquired property of an organism that causes an increase in the internal dose of a xenobiotic or an alteration in the response to a xenobiotic [19]. Variations in the absorption, distribution, metabolism, excretion, and/or DNA repair of an environmental xenobiotic may be responsible for differing individual responses to a particular dose. For example, there is a higher incidence of bladder cancer following exposure to aromatic amines in individuals possessing a less functional form of the N-acetyltransferase enzyme [20]. Thus, the phenotype of N-acetyltransferase is a biomarker of susceptibility.

1.2.4 Biomarkers in Risk Assessment

Biomarkers can provide a measure of individual exposure or effect to a particular environmental chemical. Because biomarkers take into account different exposure levels, all routes of exposure, and varying individual responses, biomarkers are a valuable addition to environmental risk assessment [21].

Risk assessments have typically been based on data obtained from human epidemiology studies and animal toxicology studies, and both have their merits and disadvantages. Although some animals can be informative models for human health research, there is still much uncertainty in the extrapolation to humans. In addition, animal studies are generally based on exposures to high doses of a chemical, and then extrapolated to apply to the low doses observed in the environment; this adds more uncertainty into the analysis. Epidemiological studies may be able to reveal associations between exposures and outcomes, but they are expensive, time-consuming, have confounding factors, and are usually only applicable to high-exposure situations. In addition, the determination of exposure has always been a primary weak point in epidemiological studies. Exposure assessments based on interviews and/or self-reported questionnaires is a potential source of bias and misclassification in many studies [22]. Also, using environmental levels as the exposure variable is not entirely accurate, as it does not take individual variation into consideration. To increase the confidence in health risk assessments, it is necessary to improve the existing exposure assessment methods. Environmental monitoring is currently the most common approach to determining exposure. However, biological monitoring, when practicable, is more valuable than environmental monitoring to determine level of risk [23]. Thus, biomarkers are a suitable source for determination of environmental exposures, and the use of DNA adducts as biomarkers in carcinogen exposure assessments may be extremely beneficial for health risk analyses.

1.3 DNA Adducts as Biomarkers

DNA adducts are the products of covalent interactions between chemical carcinogens and DNA. The adducts may lead to DNA shape distortions, cause point mutations, modify replication, and/or cause chromosomal instability. These genetic modifications have the potential to become permanent mutations, which can lead to the development of cancer. Because DNA adducts may be an integral part of cancer initiation, DNA adducts as biomarkers have the potential to provide a useful means for estimating exposure and cancer risk.

1.3.1 Chemical Carcinogenesis

Chemical carcinogenesis is a multistage process comprised of three stages: initiation, promotion, and progression [24]. The initiation step is characterized by a genotoxic event occurring in a cancer-related gene (e.g., tumor-suppressor gene, protooncogene, DNA repair gene, apoptosis-related gene) following exposure to a genotoxic agent. The genotoxic agent may be a direct-acting carcinogen (eg. ionizing radiation), or a pro-carcinogen (eg. BaP), which requires metabolic activation to its ultimate carcinogenic form. If the DNA damage is not repaired, and cell death does not occur, the cell is considered an initiated cell. The initiated cell may remain dormant, and not cause any harm to the individual. Alternatively, the cell may undergo clonal expansion into a benign neoplasm. This step in carcinogenesis is called promotion, and occurs under the influence of one or more promoting agents. Promoting agents (eg. phorbol, testosterone, croton oil [25-27]) enhance the growth of initiated cells, but may not necessarily directly cause DNA damage. Subsequent genotoxic events characterize the progression stage of carcinogenesis. Additional critical mutations to the benign neoplastic cells may alter the existing growth pattern of the cell, resulting in growth of the benign neoplasm.

1.3.2 Carcinogen Exposure, DNA Adducts and Cancer

Damage to DNA is a key initial step of chemical carcinogenesis. One possible mechanism for environmental carcinogens to cause DNA damage is through the formation of DNA adducts. The detection and quantification of specific DNA adducts can provide an estimate of the biologically effective dose of a carcinogen. An important factor in the use of DNA adducts as biomarkers is the relationship between carcinogen exposure, DNA adduct formation, and carcinogenesis [28]. The process of validating DNA adducts as biomarkers is complicated; multiple studies of different types must be

done to identify and verify the role of DNA adducts in the carcinogenesis pathway [19]. Animal models, *in vitro* assays, and epidemiologic studies are the primary methods used to elucidate this pathway.

1.3.3 BPDE-DNA Adducts as Biomarkers

An important study providing evidence of an etiological link between BPDE-DNA adducts and cancer was published by Denissenko et al [29]. They analyzed the distribution of BPDE-DNA adducts along the p53 tumor suppressor gene in cancerous HeLa cells and normal bronchial cells. Major mutational hotspots in human lung cancers are in codons 157, 248, and 273 of the p53 gene. Following cellular exposure to BPDE, they found that selective BPDE-DNA adduct formation occurred at guanine positions in the same three codons of the p53 gene in both cell types. The co-incidence of mutational hotspots and adduct hotspots suggest that BPDE-DNA adducts are involved in the initiation of human lung cancer. This study provides evidence of the intermediary role of BPDE-DNA adducts in carcinogenesis, and supports the use of BPDE-DNA adducts as biomarkers. The relationship between BPDE-DNA adducts and BaP exposure has been extensively studied in animals and humans. The association between BPDE-DNA adducts and cancer development has been more difficult to identify, however the evidence does appear to support that DNA adducts are related to cancer risk [21].

1.3.3.1 BPDE-DNA Adducts and BaP Exposure

Many studies have shown that exposure to BaP in test animals results in increased DNA adduct formation [30-32]. Dunn observed a correlation between dose and adduct formation in the stomach and liver of mice following oral BaP exposure [33]. This study was among the first to show a linear relationship for BaP adduct formation. Talaska et al. also examined the relationship between BaP exposure and adduct formation in mice [34]. They administered low doses of BaP to the skin of mice, and measured the levels of BPDE-DNA adducts in the skin, lung, and liver. Adduct levels in the skin and lungs increased with increasing exposure, however the skin showed a much higher level of BPDE-DNA adducts than the lungs. They concluded that the different tissue responses were due to the variations in tissue levels of bioactivation and DNA repair enzymes. Others have also observed varying tissue responses following BaP exposure in mice [35,36].

A number of epidemiologic studies have assessed the correlation between BaP exposure and BPDE-DNA adducts. Shamsuddin et al. were among the first to identify the formation of BPDE-DNA adducts in occupationally exposed humans [37]. Hemminki et al. found that BPDE-DNA adduct levels in blood of coke workers and residents around the cokeries were higher than rural controls; however, there was no correlation between ambient BaP concentration and adducts [38]. Other studies have confirmed the presence of BPDE-DNA adducts in occupationally exposed individuals[39-42]. Rothman et al. found that DNA adducts in blood of firefighters were

10

associated with consumption of charbroiled meats, but not hours of firefighting duty [43]. This finding is supported by the observation that 97-99% of BaP exposure comes from food [1,3].

1.3.3.2 BPDE-DNA Adducts and Carcinogenesis

The role of BPDE-DNA adducts in cancer initiation has not been fully uncovered. Several animal studies have shown a relationship between adducts and tumor initiation [44-48]; however, other animal studies have found the relationship to be very complex, and that DNA adduct levels were not predictive of carcinogenesis [21,49]. Though the results of animal studies are inconclusive, recent epidemiology studies have supported the association between adducts and cancer. A recent case-control study identified that smokers with elevated levels of DNA adducts in white blood cells were up to 3 times more likely to develop lung cancer [50]. Peluso et al. identified a strong correlation between DNA adducts in white blood cells and risk of bladder cancer [51]. Additionally, Li et al. observed an association between the level of induced BPDE-DNA adducts in lymphocytes and risk of lung cancer [52]. The conflicting results between animal studies and epidemiology studies represents a current knowledge gap regarding the carcinogenic predictiveness of BPDE-DNA adducts.

1.3.4 Limitations of DNA Adducts as Biomarkers

In using DNA adducts as biomarkers, several limitations must be considered. Of principal concern is the significant interindividual variability in the formation of carcinogen-DNA adducts. This biological variation stems from differences in carcinogen absorption, distribution, metabolism, and excretion, as well as differences in DNA repair. There is also individual variation in the amount of endogenously formed DNA adducts, and the background levels of tumors. These differences make it difficult to establish human dose-response associations, and complicates the assessment of individual risk based on the presence of DNA adducts.

It is important to thoroughly characterize the DNA adducts formed by the carcinogen of interest. A single carcinogen may form many different adducts; for example vinyl chloride can form 7-(2-oxoethyl)guanine, N^2 ,3-ethenoguanine and 1,N⁶-ethenoadenine [53,54]. Also, a single adduct can be formed by multiple carcinogens; for example 8-hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine can be formed from asbestos, hydrazines, and 4-aminobiphenyl [55-57]. Also, the DNA adducts formed endogenously may be identical to those formed by carcinogens, further complicating the characterization of DNA adducts.

Another issue relates to the occurrence of DNA repair and cell death, as these processes are involved in the removal of DNA adducts. The level of measured DNA adducts at any point in time is reflective of the rate of DNA adduct formation and DNA

repair, and the extent of cell death. Additionally, cell turnover may cause dilution of DNA adducts. Therefore, it is important to consider the timing of sampling in any study, as these factors may have a significant effect on the amount of measured DNA adducts. It is necessary to understand that the measured level of adducts does not represent permanent DNA damage.

Furthermore, the multifactorial origin of cancer makes it difficult to clearly define what causes a cancer. The presence of carcinogen-DNA adducts does not necessarily indicate that a cancer will develop, as not all adduct formation leads to carcinogenesis. In most cases, it is not known to what degree the biomarkers predict the risk of mutation or cancer, which limits the application of DNA adducts in risk assessment [58]. Thus, thorough characterization of individual carcinogen-DNA adducts is required prior to their use as biomarkers of exposure and as early indicators of potential disease.

1.4 Techniques for Measuring BPDE-DNA Adducts

Accurate and sensitive DNA adduct detection methods are essential for the use of DNA adducts as biomarkers. Several methods have been developed to detect BPDE-DNA adducts in human tissues, blood, and urine, and these methods can be used to qualitatively and/or quantitatively measure presence of DNA adducts. Among the most common techniques are ³²P-postlabelling, immunoassays, and mass spectrometry [59].

More recent techniques include gene specific or sequence specific DNA adduct detection methods.

1.4.1 ³²P-postlabelling Assay

The ³²P-postlabelling assay, which was first developed in the early 1980's, involves four major steps (Figure 1.2) [60,61]. Firstly, DNA is digested into component nucleotides by endo- and exo-nucleases. Secondly, a radiolabelled phosphate group is incorporated into each nucleotide by addition of $[\gamma^{-32}P]$ ATP + T4 polynucleotide kinase. Next, separation of the normal nucleotides from the adducts is performed using cellulose thin layer chromatography (TLC), or high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC); for most carcinogens, the DNA-adducts are hydrophobic, and thus can be separated from the less hydrophobic normal nucleotides. The last step involves the detection of ³²P radioactivity.

The ³²P-postlabelling assay offers versatility, as adducts from most chemical classes of carcinogens can be monitored, and no prior knowledge of the adduct structure is needed. It has the ability to screen for carcinogen-DNA adducts without the initial labelling of the carcinogen with a radioactive isotope; this provides a feasible and cost-effective method for carcinogen-DNA adduct measurements throughout long-term animal studies because the carcinogen does not need to be radiolabelled prior to administration. Other advantages include high sensitivity (1 adduct in 10⁹ nucleotides), and small sample requirements (2-10 ug DNA) [20, 62]. Weaknesses of this assay include limited





characterization of the DNA adduct, and limited specificity, as it is difficult to differentiate the specific types of DNA adducts detected. There is also the possibility of producing artifacts during DNA digestion and sample treatment processes.

1.4.2 Immunoassays

Immunoassays make use of specialized antibodies that recognize and bind to specific carcinogen-DNA adducts. Several different antibodies have been developed that recognize and bind BPDE-DNA adducts. The types of immunoassays used for BPDE-DNA adduct analysis include radioimmunoassays (RIA), fluorescence immunoassays (FIA), chemiluminescence immunoassays (CIA), and enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays (ELISA). In RIA, antibodies labeled with a radioactive isotope bind to the BPDE-DNA adduct. The radioactivity of bound antibody is measured and used to determine the analyte concentration in the sample. FIAs are similar to the RIAs, but the antibody has a fluorescent label rather than a radioactive label. Once the fluorescent label is excited, the fluorescence is measured and can be used to determine the concentration of the analyte. CIAs utilize a chemiluminescent label that is bound to the antibody. The chemiluminescent label produces light when combined with a trigger reagent, and the measured light is used to determine analyte concentration. ELISA makes use of antibodies that are chemically linked to a specific enzyme. Antibodies bind to the analyte of interest, and a substrate for the enzyme is added to the mixture. The product of the reaction between the substrate and enzyme is usually colored or fluorescent, either of which can be measured to determine the amount of antibody binding. These

immunoassays are similar in their use of antibodies to recognize DNA adducts, but differ in their specific detection mechanisms.

Immunoassays are relatively low in cost, easy to use, and applicable to large population studies. The detection limit usually ranges between 1 adduct per 10^8 and 1 adduct per 10^9 nucleotides [59,63,64]. A disadvantage with the immunoassay technique is the possible cross-reactivity of the antibodies. If the chosen antibody is not entirely specific to BPDE-DNA adducts, it may bind to structurally similar compounds and miscalculate the actual amount of BPDE-DNA adducts.

To improve on the sensitivity of DNA adduct analysis, immunoassays may be coupled with analytical instruments. Capillary electrophoresis with laser-induced fluorescence (CE/LIF) can be combined with FIA techniques for highly specific and sensitive adduct measurements [64,65].

1.4.2.1 FIA/CE/LIF

In the fluorescence immunoassay, primary antibodies $(1^{\circ}-Ab)$ specific for the BPDE-DNA adduct, fluorescently labeled secondary antibodies $(2^{\circ}-Ab)$ that recognize the 1° antibody, and the DNA sample are mixed together (Figure 1.3). After incubating for a short period of time, three separate fluorescently-labeled products are formed: $2^{\circ}-Ab$, $2^{\circ}-Ab$ + $1^{\circ}-Ab$, and the $2^{\circ}-Ab$ + $1^{\circ}-Ab$ + DNA adduct (DNA adduct complex). The



Figure 1.3 Illustration of a fluorescence immunoassay (FIA). The three products shown are the possible configurations of the fluorescently-labeled antibodies. (Modified from [64]).

DNA adduct complex is the product of interest, and can be separated from the free antibodies using CE.

CE is a fast and efficient analytical technique which allows separation of individual molecules based on their size and charge. Movement of molecules through a fused silica capillary (i.d. 20-100 nm) is based on two forces, an electrophoretic force (EPF) and an electroosmotic force (EOF) [66,67]. A high voltage (~20 kV) applied to the capillary creates the EPF; the direction of the force is dependent on the charge of the molecule (Figure 1.4). Buffer movement through the capillary creates the EOF, which drives all molecules towards the negative electrode. Positive ions are driven towards the negative electrode by both the EOF and EPF, resulting in the fastest migration time. Negative ions are driven towards the positive electrode by the EPF, but towards the negative electrode by the EOF, resulting in the slowest migration time through the capillary. Neutral molecules are not affected by the EF, and their movement is guided only by the EOF; this results in a migration time intermediate of the positive and negative ion movement. In the separation of the three fluorescently-labeled products (Figure 1.3), the free antibodies elute first. The DNA adduct complex will elute later due to the negative charge on DNA.

LIF is a highly sensitive and selective detection method, and is compatible with the small sample volumes used in CE [66,68]. In FIA/CE/LIF, the fluorescently-labeled antibodies, either free or bound to DNA adducts, are excited with a helium-neon laser, and the fluorescence is detected. The measured level of fluorescence of bound 2^{0} -Ab is proportional to the concentration of DNA adducts in the sample.

The combination of immunoassays with CE/LIF is a highly useful method for the detection of DNA adducts. It takes advantage of antibody recognition, CE separation, and the highly sensitive LIF detection. The CE/LIF technique is fast (3-4 min) and requires a small sample size (\sim 50 nL). Past studies have identified a detection limit of approximately 1-3 adducts in 10⁹ nucleotides [64,69]. In addition, this assay does not require digestion of the DNA sample, and therefore reduces the possibility of artifacts produced by the DNA treatment procedures, such as with the ³²P-postlabelling assay.



Figure 1.4 Movement of individual molecules through a capillary in CE. EOF: electroosmotic force; EPF: electrophoretic force; (-): negatively-charged molecules; N: neutral molecules; (+): positively-charged molecules.

1.4.3 Mass Spectrometry

Mass spectrometry (MS) coupled with separation techniques (GC, LC, CE) has proven to be a useful method for analyzing DNA adducts. The coupling of these instruments allows the separation and online detection of adducts. MS also enables the determination of structural properties of DNA adducts. Currently, electrospray ionization (ESI) is the most commonly used ionization technique for interfacing LC or CE separations to MS [70]. For LC/ESI/MS, adducts are separated from normal nucleotides using a reversed-phase LC column. As the analytes elute from the column, they pass through a fine needle to an electrospray ionization chamber, where they are converted from small liquid droplets to gas-phase ions. The gas-phase ions are then extracted into the mass spectrometer for analysis.

To identify BPDE-DNA adducts at specific sites within a DNA sequence, labeling of specific DNA bases with a stable isotope (¹⁵N) is done prior to LC-ESI-MS/MS analysis of the DNA adducts [71]. As shown in Figure 1.5, ¹⁵N-labeled guanine nucleotides are placed at specific positions within DNA oligodeoxynucleotides representing gene sequences of interest. This is followed by treatment with BPDE, enzymatic hydrolysis, and LC-ESI-MS/MS analysis of the nucleoside adducts. BPDE adducts forming at the ¹⁵N-labeled guanine are distinct from adducts formed at other sites because of the increased molecular weight of the ¹⁵N atom. By varying the site of the labeled nucleotide, it is possible to determine specific sites of BPDE-DNA adduct formation.



Figure 1.5 Strategy for quantitation of BPDE-deoxyguanosine adducts at specific sites within a DNA sequence [71]. See text for description.
Alternatively, the carcinogen of interest can be isotope labeled and the DNA adducts determined by accelerated MS (AMS) [70]. The carcinogen of interest is labeled with carbon-14 or hydrogen-3 isotopes, and the labeled carcinogen is then administered to cells or animals. DNA is isolated, and extensive procedures are performed to remove any unbound isotope label. The isotope label that remains covalently bound to the DNA is quantified using AMS [72]. AMS demonstrates extremely high sensitivity (1-2 adducts in 10¹² bases [70]). A disadvantage of AMS is that when assessing individual carcinogen exposure, radioactive labeling is required prior to administration to subjects [72].

More recent techniques have combined LC with nanoelectrospray tandem MS. This assay makes use of enzymatic digestion of DNA, capillary LC separation of individual nucleotides, and internal isotopic standards to quantify adducts, and achieve sensitivities in the range of 40 adducts/10⁹ bases [73]. Additionally, because preradiolabelling of the adducts is not required, this assay is suitable for *in vivo* applications.

1.4.4 Gene or Sequence Specific Assays

Gene or sequence specific assays allow the identification of the position of DNA adducts. This is important because DNA adducts formed at a biologically significant site of a cancer-related gene are more relevant than those formed in global DNA. As described above, site-specific DNA adduct analysis is based on ¹⁵N labeling of the specific nucleotide and LC/ESI/MS/MS. Another gene specific assay is the ligation-

mediated polymerase chain reaction (LMPCR) assay [29,74]. To identify the specific gene in which the BPDE-DNA adduct is formed, purified genomic DNA is first treated with UvrABC nuclease, a DNA nucleotide excision repair enzyme complex isolated from *Escherichia coli*, to cleave at the DNA adduct sites. Next, the DNA fragments are amplified using LMPCR. Specific oligonucleotide primers are used to identify the gene of interest, and the DNA fragments are then separated and visualized by gel electrophoresis. This method is very sensitive because of the PCR amplification. The specific ligation and the UvrABC protein binding to DNA adducts provide the method specificity. A drawback is that that the UvrABC nuclease may not cleave all adducted nucleotides, resulting in potential underestimation of DNA adducts.

1.5 BPDE-DNA Adduct Detection in White Blood Cells

1.5.1 Mononuclear White Blood Cells

Mononuclear white blood cells (MNCs) are a group of white blood cells that do not contain granules in their cytoplasm [75]. MNCs consist of lymphocytes and monocytes, and both cell types play a role in the body's immune system. Lymphocytes make up approximately 20-25% of total white blood cells, and have a long life span (months to years) [76]. Monocytes make up 4-8% of white blood cells, and are shortliving (days). The determination of BPDE-DNA adducts in MNCs offers several advantages. Firstly, blood is an easily obtainable tissue, and this presents a potential use for human biomonitoring. Secondly, through the use of density gradients, MNCs are easy to separate from whole blood. Lastly, multiple studies have identified MNCs as a suitable surrogate tissue for estimating DNA adduct levels in lung cells. For example, Weincke et al. found that DNA adducts in blood MNCs are a suitable predictor for DNA adduct levels in lung cells [77]. Weincke et al. also investigated the effect of smoking status on adduct levels in MNCs and lung tissue [78]. They again concluded that adduct levels in MNCs correlate with adduct levels in lung cells, regardless of individual smoking status. Godschalk et al. also found that BPDE-DNA adduct levels in white blood cells show a correlation with BPDE-DNA adduct levels in the lungs [79]. Additionally, high BPDE-DNA adduct levels in white blood cells have been indicated as a risk factor for lung cancer [50,80].

1.5.2 FIA/CE/LIF for BPDE-DNA Adduct Detection in MNCs

FIA/CE/LIF has been developed as a suitable method for the detection of BPDE-DNA adducts in lung A549 cells [81-83]. To build on this research, we have developed a FIA/CE/LIF technique to detect BPDE-DNA adducts in MNCs.

The ³²P-postlabelling assay is the most commonly used assay for BPDE-DNA adduct detection in MNCs. As discussed above (*Section 1.4.1*), there are several

drawbacks to this method, including the potential production of artifacts during DNA digestion, use of radioactive material, and limited specificity for BPDE-DNA adducts.

FIA/CE/LIF helps to overcome these disadvantages. The use of specialized antibodies allows for the specific detection of BPDE-DNA adducts. The production of artifacts is also avoided, as FIA/CE/LIF requires no digestion step. Additionally, FIA/CE/LIF avoids the use of radioactive material. The sensitivity of FIA/CE/LIF is comparable to the sensitivity of other BPDE-DNA adduct detection methods [81]. In addition to these advantages, FIA/CE/LIF is a relatively inexpensive technique.

Two different applications of the developed FIA/CE/LIF method were tested; an *in vitro* assay and an environmental monitoring assessment. These applications are discussed further in *section 1.6* and *section 1.7*.

1.6 FIA/CE/LIF *In vitro* Application: Effect of Glutathione Depletion on BPDE-DNA Adduct Formation

Glutathione-S-transferase (GST) enzymes are thought to be involved in the detoxification of BPDE and BaP [84-87]. Although there are a number of possible BPDE inactivation pathways, including spontaneous hydrolysis and hydrolysis catalyzed by epoxide hydrolase, GST inactivation of BPDE is believed to be the most significant [88]. GST utilizes glutathione (GSH) as a substrate to catalyze conjugation detoxification

reactions. Thus, GSH depletion will ultimately have an effect on the level of GST activity.

Several investigators have observed a relationship between GST phenotype and BPDE-DNA adduct formation in MNCs. For example, Butkiewicz et al. and Guven et al. both found an association between GST null polymorphisms and increased BPDE-DNA adduct formation [85,89]. Furthermore, Wang et al. determined that GST polymorphisms associated with a decrease in GST activity correlate with an increased risk of lung cancer [90]. Additionally, mice pre-exposed to a glutathione depleting agent prior to BaP exposure showed increased tumorogenesis in lungs and stomach compared to mice exposed to BaP only [91]. These findings suggest that GST enzymes are important factors in BPDE detoxification.

MNCs have a considerable amount of GSH [92]. If GST does indeed play a major role in BPDE detoxification in MNCs, co-exposure to BPDE plus a GSH depleting agent would likely result in an increase in the formation of BPDE-DNA adducts. If GST enzymes are found to play a significant part in the BPDE-DNA adduct formation in MNCs, GST enzyme activity and BPDE detoxification should be considered when BPDE-DNA adducts in MNCs are used as biomarkers of exposure.

Evaluating the role of GSH in BPDE-DNA adduct formation allowed us to test the suitability of FIA/CE/LIF for *in vitro* assays. Using FIA/CE/LIF, we observed significant increases in levels of BPDE-DNA adducts in MNCs co-exposed to BPDE and a GSH inhibitor compared to MNCs exposed to BPDE alone. *In vitro* studies provide a valuable approach to improving our understanding of the mechanisms of BaP carcinogenesis. As will be discussed further in Chapter 3, we have shown that FIA/CE/LIF is a suitable method for MNC *in vitro* analyses. Further *in vitro* studies utilizing this method may be used to help clarify the role of DNA adducts in BaP-induced carcinogenesis.

1.7 FIA/CE/LIF Biomonitoring Application: Detection of BPDE-DNA Adducts in Smokers

There have been inconsistent results regarding the association between BPDE-DNA adducts in MNCs and exposure to cigarette smoke. Several studies have shown significant correlations between adduct levels and smoking [78,93,94], though it is not entirely clear which measures of smoke exposure would be predictive of adduct levels in target tissues [95]. Among different studies, BPDE-DNA adducts have been related to cigarette tar content [5], pack-years [96], daily cigarette consumption [79], or age of smoking initiation [78]. Wiencke et al. determined that adducts in MNCs are a suitable surrogate for adducts in lung cells, a primary target tissue for BPDE [77,78]. However, it is not known to what extent MNC adduct levels are related to tobacco smoke exposure.

A number of studies have indicated there is no relationship between smoking and MNC adducts [51,97-99]. For example, van Maanen et al. found no differences in MNC adduct levels between smokers and nonsmokers [100]. Also, Rojas et al. did not observe any differences between adducts in smokers compared to nonsmokers; however, they did see an enhancing effect of smoking on adduct levels in coke oven workers [101].

Because of the lack of consistency between the above-mentioned studies, the relationship between adducts and smoking requires further investigation. Chapter 4 describes in detail the use of FIA/CE/LIF to detect BPDE-DNA adducts in MNCs. Though the detected adducts were not quantifiable, additional modifications to the method may help to improve sensitivity. It is hoped that FIA/CE/LIF DNA adduct detection will eventually provide a sensitive and selective method to better measure the presence of BPDE-DNA adducts in MNCs.

1.8 Thesis Objectives

This project was comprised of three objectives:

- i. to develop and optimize a FIA/CE/LIF method for the detection of BPDE-DNA adducts in MNCs;
- ii. to utilize FIA/CE/LIF for *in vitro* analysis and assess the role of glutathione in BPDE-DNA adduct formation;
- iii. to test the ability of the FIA/CE/LIF method to detect BPDE-DNA adducts in MNCs of smokers.

The development and optimization of the FIA/CE/LIF method is thoroughly discussed in Chapter 2. The optimized method was then used to assess the dose-response relationship between cellular BPDE exposure and BPDE-DNA adduct formation. To evaluate the usefulness of FIA/CE/LIF, the technique was used in an *in vitro* study and in blood testing of individuals exposed to BaP. Chapter 3 examines the role of glutathione in BPDE-DNA adduct formation through *in vitro* exposure to BPDE and a glutathione depleting agent. Chapter 4 assesses the ability of the developed method to detect BPDE-DNA adducts in smokers.

1.9 References

- [1] Health Canada. Benzo[a]pyrene. (2004). Retrieved from <u>http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/ewh-semt/pubs/water-eau/doc_sup-appui/benzo_a_pyrene/index_e.html</u> on 12/09/06.
- [2] Government of Alberta. Benzo(a)pyrene levels. (2006). Retrieved from http://www3.gov.ab.ca/env/soe/air_indicators/11_benzopyrene.html on 12/09/06.
- [3] H.A. Hattemer-Frey, C.C. Travis. Benzo[a]pyrene: Environmental partitioning and human exposure. Toxicol. Ind. Health. 7 (1991) 141-57.
- [4] Environmental Protection Agency. Draft report for benzo(a)pyrene: Sources and regulations analytical process reports. (2006). Retrieved from <u>http://www.epa.gov/glnpo/bns/baphcb/stepbap.html</u> on 04/05/07.
- [5] R.W.L. Godschalk, L.M. Maas, N. Van Zandwijk, L.J. Van't Veer, A. Breedijk, P.J.A. Borm, J. Verhaert, J.C.S. Kleinjans, F.J. Van Schooten. Differences in aromatic-DNA adduct levels between alveolar macrophages and subpopulations of white blood cells from smokers. Carcinogenesis. 19 (1998) 819-825.
- [6] International Agency for Research on Cancer. Group 1: Carcinogenic to humans. (2007). Retrieved from http://monographs.iarc.fr/ENG/Classification/crthgr01.php on 04/05/07.
- [7] Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (ATSDR). Toxicological profile for polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. (1995). Retrieved from <u>http://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/toxprofiles/tp69.pdf</u> on 12/09/06.
- [8] R. Serpi. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in cancer. (2003). Retrieved from http://herkules.oulu.fi/isbn9514270398/html/x203.html#AEN216 on 12/09/06.
- [9] G. Boysen, S.S. Hecht. Analysis of DNA and protein adducts of benzo[a]pyrene in human tissues using structure-specific methods. Mutat. Res. 543 (2003) 17-30.
- [10] E. Eisenstadt, A.J. Warren, J. Porter, D. Atkins, J.H. Miller. Carcinogenic epoxides of benzo[a]pyrene and cyclopenta[cd]pyrene induce base substitutions via specific transversions. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 79 (1981) 1945-1949.
- [11] National Research Council. Biological markers in environmental health research. Environ. Health Perspect. 74 (1987) 3-9.

- [12] S.W. Metcalf, K.G. Orloff. Biomarkers of exposure in community settings, J. Toxicol. Environ. Health. 67 (2004) 715-726.
- [13] C.P. Wild, P. Pisani. Carcinogen-DNA and carcinogen-protein adducts in molecular epidemiology, IARC Sci. Publ. 142 (1997) 143-158.
- [14] T. Sakai. Biomarkers of lead exposure. Ind. Health. 38 (2000) 127-142.
- [15] J.O. Ebbert, L.C. Dale, L.M. Nirelli, D.R. Schroeder, T.P. Moyer, R.D. Hurt. Cotinine as a biomarker of systemic nicotine exposure in spit tobacco users. Addict. Behav. 29 (2004) 349-355.
- [16] G.S. Qian, R.K. Ross, M.C. Yu, J.M. Yuan, Y.T. Gao, B.E. Henderson, G.N. Wogan, J.D. Groopman. A follow-up study of urinary markers of aflatoxin exposure and liver cancer risk in Shanghai, People's Republic of China. Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev. 3 (1994) 519-521.
- [17] S.K. Hammond, J. Coghlin, P.H. Gann, M. Paul, K. Taghizadeh, P.L. Skipper, S.R. Tannenbaum. Relationship between environmental tobacco smoke exposure and carcinogen-hemoglobin adduct levels in nonsmokers. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 85 (1993) 474-478.
- [18] A. Bernard, H. Stolte, M.E. De Broe, P.W. Mueller, H. Mason, L.H. Lash, B.A. Fowler. Urinary biomarkers to detect significant effects of environmental and occupational exposure to nephrotoxins. IV. current information on interpreting the health implications of tests. Ren. Fail. 19 (1997) 553-566.
- [19] C.F. Bearer. Biomarkers in pediatric environmental health: A cross-cutting issue. Environ. Health Perspect. (1998) Vol. 106, suppl. 3, p. 813-16.
- [20] J.A. Timbrell. Biomarkers in toxicology. Toxicol. 129 (1998) 1-12.
- [21] R.W. Godschalk, F.J. Van Schooten, H. Bartsch. A critical evaluation of DNA adducts as biological markers for human exposure to polycyclic aromatic compounds. J. Biochem. Mol. Biol. 36 (2002) 1-11.
- [22] J. Angerer, H. Greim. Biological Monitoring Prospects in Occupational and Environmental Medicine, Wiley-VCH, Weinheim, Germany, 2002.
- [23] enHealth Council Australia. Environmental Health Risk Assessment:
 Guidelines for Assessing Human Health Risks from Environmental Hazards,
 Commonwealth of Australia, Canberra, Australia, 2002.

- [24] R.C. Smart. Chemical carcinogenesis, in: E. Hodgson (Ed.), A Textbook of Modern Toxicology, Third Edition, John Wiley and Sons, Inc, USA, 2004, pp. 225-241.
- [25] Chemical Carcinogenesis Research Information System (CCRIS). Phorbol. (2006). Retrieved from <u>http://toxnet.nlm.nih.gov/cgibin/sis/search/f?./temp/~ixGg74:1</u> on 03/26/07.
- [26] Chemical Carcinogenesis Research Information System (CCRIS). Testosterone.
 (2006). Retrieved from <u>http://toxnet.nlm.nih.gov/cgi-bin/sis/search/f?./temp/~fGKTAv:2</u> on 03/26/07.
- [27] Chemical Carcinogenesis Research Information System (CCRIS). Croton oil.
 (2006). Retrieved from <u>http://toxnet.nlm.nih.gov/cgi-bin/sis/search/f?./temp/~EKsZrj:1</u> on 03/26/07.
- [28] J.D. Groopman, G.N. Wogan, B.D. Roebuck, T.W. Kensler. Molecular biomarkers for aflatoxins and their application to human cancer prevention. Cancer Res. 54 (1994) 1907-1911.
- [29] M.F. Denissenko, A. Pao, M. Tang, G.P. Pfeifer. Preferential formation of benzo[a]pyrene adducts at lung cancer mutational hotspots in p53. Science. 274 (1996) 430-432.
- [30] R.K. Wolff, J.A. Bond, J.D. Sun, R.F. Henderson, J.R. Harkema, W.C. Griffith, J.L. Mauderly, R.O. McClellan. Effects of adsorption of benzo[*a*]pyrene onto carbon black particles on levels of DNA adducts in lungs of rats exposed by inhalation. Tox. Applied Pharm. 97 (1989) 289-299.
- [31] J. Nakayama, S.H. Yuspa, M.C. Poirier. Benzo(a)pyrene-DNA adduct formation and removal in mouse epidermis *in vivo* and *in vitro*: Relationship of DNA binding to initiation of skin carcinogenesis. Cancer Res. 44 (1984) 4087-4096.
- [32] M. Rojas, W. Baer-dubowska, K. Alexandrov. Comparison of benzo[a]pyrene-DNA adduct levels in mouse and rat epidermis and dermis. Canc Lett. 30 (1986) 35-39.
- [33] B.P. Dunn. Wide-range linear dose-response curve for DNA binding of orally administered benzo(a)pyrene in mice. Cancer Res. 43 (1983) 2654-2658.
- [34] G. Talaska, M. Jaeger, R. Reilman, T. Collins, D. Warshawsky. Chronic, topical exposure to benzo[a]pyrene induces relatively high steady-state levels of DNA adducts in target tissues and alters kinetics of adduct loss. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 93 (1996) 7789-7793.

- [35] D. Brauze, R. Mikstcka, W. Baer-Dubowska. Formation and persistence of benzo[a]pyrene-DNA adducts in different tissues of C57BL/10 and DBA/2 mice. Carcinogenesis. 12 (1991) 1607-1611.
- [36] G.L. Ginsberg, T.B. Atherholt. DNA adduct formation in mouse tissues in relation to serum levels of benzo(a)pyrene-diol-epoxide after injection of benzo(a)pyrene or the diol-epoxide. Cancer Res. 50 (1990) 1189-1194.
- [37] A.K.M. Shamsuddin, N.T. Sinopoli, K. Hemminki, R.R. Boesch, C.C. Harris. Detection of benzo(a)pyrene: DNA adducts in human white blood cells. Cancer Res. 45 (1985) 66-68.
- [38] K. Hemminki, E. Grzybowska, M. Chorazy, K. Twardowska-Saucha, J.W. Sroczynski, K. Randerath, A. Hewer, R.M. Santella, F.P. Perera. DNA adducts in humans environmentally exposed to aromatic compounds in an industrial area of Poland. Carcinogenesis. 11 (1990) 1229-1231.
- [39] S. Ovrebo, A. Haugen, D.H. Phillips, A. Hewer. Detection of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon-DNA adducts in white blood cells from coke oven workers: Correlation with job categories. Cancer Res. 52 (1992) 1510-1514.
- [40] E. Grzybowska, K. Hemminki, J. Szeliga, M. Chorazy. Seasonal variation of aromatic DNA adducts in human lymphocytes and granulocytes. Carcinogenesis. 14 (1993) 2523-2526.
- [41] K. Hemminki, F.P. Perera, D.H. Phillips, K. Randerath, M.V. Reddy, R.M. Santella. Aromatic deoxyribonucleic acid adducts in white blood cells of foundry and coke oven workers. Scand. J. Work Env. Health. 14 (1988) 55-56.
- [42] F.P. Perera, K. Hemminki, T.L. Young, D. Brenner, G. Kelly, R.M. Santella. Detection of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon-DNA adducts in white blood cells of foundry workers. Cancer Res. 48 (1988) 2288-2291.
- [43] N. Rothman, A. Correa-Villasenor, D.O. Ford, M.C. Poirier, R. Haas, J.A. Hansen, T. O'Toole, P.T. Strickland. Contribution of occuaption and diet to white blood cell polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon-DNA adducts in wildland firefighters. Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev. 2 (1993) 341-347.
- [44] S.W. Ashurst, G.M. Cohen, S. Nesnow, J. DiGiovanni, T.J. Slaga. Formation of benzo(a)pyrene/DNA adducts and their relationship to tumor initiation in mouse epidermis. Cancer Res. 43 (1983) 1024-1029.
- [45] M.T. Huang, Z.Y. Wang, C.A. Georgiadis, J.D. Laskin, A.H. Conney. Inhibitory effects of curcumin on tumor initiation by benzo(a)pyrene and 7,12dimethylbenz(a)anthracene. Carcinogenesis. 13 (1992) 2183-2186.

- [46] M. Poirier, F.A. Beland. DNA adduct measurements and tumor incidence during chronic carcinogen exposure in animal models: Implications for DNA adduct based human cancer risk assessment. Chem. Res. Toxicol. 5 (1992) 749-755.
- [47] S. Nesnow, J.A. Ross, G.D. Stoner, M.J. Mass. Mechanistic linkage between DNA adducts, mutations in oncogenes and tumorigenesis of carcinogenic environmental polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in strain A/J mice. Toxicol. 105 (1995) 403-413.
- [48] J.A. Ross, G.B. Nelson, K.W. Wilson, J.R. Rabinowitz, A. Galati, G.D. Stoner, S. Nesnow, M.J. Mass. Adenomas induced by polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in strain A/J mouse lung correlate with time-integrated DNAadduct levels. Cancer Res. 55 (1995) 1039-1044.
- [49] J. Ross, G. Nelson, A. Kligerman, G. Erexson, M. Bryant, K. Earley, R.C. Gupta, S. Nesnow. Formation and persistence of novel benzo(a)pyrene adducts in rat lung, liver, and peripheral blood lymphocyte DNA. Cancer Res. 50 (1990) 5088-5094.
- [50] D. Tang, D.H. Phillips, M. Stampfer, L.V.A. Mooney, Y. Hsu, S. Cho, W.-. Tsai, J. Ma, K.J. Cole, M.N. She, F.P. Perera. Association between carcinogen-DNA adducts in white blood cells and lung cancer risk in the physicians health study. Cancer Res. 61 (2001) 6708-6712.
- [51] M. Peluso, L. Airoldi, C. Magagnotti, L. Fiorini, A. Munnia, A. Hautefeuille, C. Malaveille, P. Vineis. White blood cell DNA adducts and fruit and vegetable consumption in bladder cancer. Carcinogenesis. 21 (2000) 183-187.
- [52] D. Li, P.F. Firozi, L.-. Wang, C.H. Bosken, M.R. Spitz, W.K. Hong, Q. Wei. Sensitivity to DNA damage induced by benzo(a)pyrene diol epoxide and risk of lung cancer: A case-control analysis. Cancer Res. 61 (2001) 1445-1450.
- [53] N. Fedtke, J.A. Boucheron, V.E. Walker, J.A. Swenberg. Vinyl chlorideinduced DNA adducts. II: Formation and persistence of 7-(2'-oxoethyl)guanine and N²,3-ethenoguanine in rat tissue DNA. Carcinogenesis. 11 (1990) 1287-1292.
- [54] T. Yen, S. Holt, R. Sangaiah, A. Gold, J.A. Swenberg. Quantitation of 1,N super(6)-ethenoadenine in rat urine by immunoaffinity extraction combined with liquid chromatography/electrospray ionization mass spectrometry. Chem. Res. Toxicol. 11 (1998) 810-815.

- [55] S. Adachi, K. Kawamura, S. Yoshida, K. Takemoto. Oxidative damage on DNA induced by asbestos and man-made fibers *in vitro*. Int. Arch. Occup. Environ. Health. 63 (1992) 553-557.
- [56] P.M. Gannett, N.S. Dalal, X. Shi, B. Toth. 8-hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine formation during the catalytic oxidation of hydrazines in the presence of 2'deoxyguanosine. Chem. Biol. Interactions. 80 (1991) 57-72.
- [57] M. Murata, A. Tamura, M. Tada, S. Kawanishi. Mechanism of oxidative DNA damage induced by carcinogenic 4-aminobiphenyl. Free Radical Biol. Med. 30 (2001) 765-773.
- [58] K. Hemminki, R. Kumar, V.J. Bykov, J. Louhelainen, P. Vodicka. Future research directions in the use of biomarkers. Env. Health Perspect. 104 (1996) 459-464.
- [59] M.C. Poirier, A. Weston. Human DNA adduct measurements: State of the art. Env. Health Perspect. 104 (1996) 883-893.
- [60] K. Randerath, M.V. Reddy, R.C. Gupta. ³²P-labeling test for DNA damage. Proc. Math Acad. Sci. 78 (1981) 6126-6129.
- [61] R.C. Gupta, M.V. Reddy, K. Randerath. ³²P-postlabeling analysis of nonradioactive aromatic carcinogen - DNA adducts. Carcinogenesis. 3 (1982) 1081-1092.
- [62] M.C. Poirier. DNA adducts as exposure biomarkers and indicators of cancer risk. Env. Health Perspect. 105 (1997) 907-912.
- [63] P.B. Farmer. Carcinogen adducts: Use in diagnosis and risk assessment. Clin. Chem. 40 (1994) 1438-43.
- [64] H. Wang, M. Lu, N. Mei, J. Lee, M. Weinfeld, X.C. Le. Immunoassays using capillary electrophoresis laser induced fluorescence detection for DNA adducts. Anal. Chim. Acta. 500 (2003) 13-20.
- [65] H. Wang, M. Lu, X.C. Le. DNA-driven focusing for protein-DNA binding assays using capillary electrophoresis. Anal. Chem. 77 (2005) 4985-4990.
- [66] X.C. Le, V. Pavski, H. Wang. 2002 W.A.E McBryde award lecture affinity recognition, capillary electrophoresis, and laser-induced fluorescence polarization for ultrasensitive bioanalysis. Can. J. Chem. 83 (2005) 185-194.
- [67] Y. Xu. Tutorial: Capillary electrophoresis. Chem. Educ. 1 (1996) 1-14.

- [68] G.M. Korf, J.P. Landers, D.J. O'kane. Capillary electrophoresis with laserinducd fluorescence detection for the analysis of free and immune-complexed green fluorescent protein. Anal. Biochem. 251 (1997) 210-218.
- [69] X.C. Le, J.Z. Xing, J. Lee, S.A. Leadon, M. Weinfeld. Inducible repair of thymine glycol detected by an ultrasensitive assay for DNA damage. Science. 280 (1998) 1066-1069.
- [70] K.W. Turteltaub, K.H. Dingley. Application of accelerated mass spectrometry (AMS) in DNA adduct quantification and identification. Toxicol. Lett. 102-103 (1998) 435-439.
- [71] N. Tretyakova, B. Matter, R. Jones, A. Shallop. Formation of benzo[a]pyrene diol epoxide-DNA adducts at specific guanines within K-ras and p53 gene sequences: Stable isotope-labeling mass spectrometry approach. Biochem. 41 (2002) 9535-9544.
- [72] J.S. Felton, K.W. Turteltaub. Accelerator mass spectrometry for measuring lowdose carcinogen binding to DNA. Env Health Perspect. 102 (1994) 450-452.
- [73] X. Liu, M.A. Lovell, B.C. Lynn. Detection and quantification of endogenous cyclic DNA adducts derived from trans-4-hydroxy-2-nonenal in human brain tissue by isotope dilution capillary liquid chromatography nanoelectrospray tandem mass spectrometry. Chem. Res. Toxicol. 19 (2006) 710-718.
- [74] Z. Feng, W. Hu, J.X. Chen, A. Pao, H. Li, W. Rom, M.C. Hung, M.S. Tang. Preferential DNA damage and poor repair determine ras gene mutational hotspot in human cancer. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 94 (2002) 1527-1536.
- [75] R. Rhoades, R. Pflanzer. Human Physiology. Third Edition. Saunders College Publishing, Orlando, Florida, 1996.
- [76] A.K. Abbas, A.H. Lichtman, J.S. Pober. Cells and tissues of the immune system. Cellular and Molecular Immunology. Fourth Edition. W.B. Saunders Company, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, 2000, pp. 17-38.
- [77] J.K. Wiencke, K.T. Kelsey, A. Varkonyi, K. Semey, J.C. Wain, E. Mark, D.C. Christiani. Correlation of DNA adducts in blood mononuclear cells with tobacco carcinogen-induced damage in human lung. Cancer Res. 55 (1995) 4910-4914.
- [78] J.K. Wiencke, S.W. Thurston, K.T. Kelsey, A. Varkonyi, J.C. Wain, E.J. Mark, D.C. Christiani. Early age at smoking initiation and tobacco carcinogen DNA damage in the lung. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 91 (1999) 614-619.

- [79] R.W.L. Godschalk, E.J.C. Moonen, P.A.E.L. Schilderman, W.M.R. Broekmans, J.C.S. Kleinjans, F.J. Van Schooten. Exposure-route-dependent DNA adduct formation by polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. Carcinogenesis. 21 (2000) 87-92.
- [80] S.V. Vulimiri, X. Wu, W. Baer-Dubowska, M. De Andrade, M. Detry, M.R. Spitz, J. DiGiovanni. Analysis of aromatic DNA adducts and 7,8-dihydro-8oxo-2'-deoxyguanosine in lymphocyte DNA from a case-control study of lung cancer involving minority populations. Mol. Carcinog. 27 (2000) 34-46.
- [81] W.G. Tan, T.J. Carnelley, P. Murphy, H. Wang, J. Lee, S. Barker, M. Weinfeld, X.C. Le. Detection of DNA adducts of benzo[a]pyrene using immunoelectrophoresis with laser-induced fluorescence analysis of A549 cells. J. Chrom A. 924 (2001) 377-386.
- [82] T.J. Carnelley, S. Barker, H. Wang, W.G. Tan, M. Weinfeld, X.C. Le. Synthesis, characterization, and applications of a fluorescent probe of DNA damage. Chem. Res. Toxicol. 14 (2001) 1513-1522.
- [83] H. Wang, J. Xing, W. Tan, M. Lam, T. Carnelley, M. Weinfeld, X.C. Le. Binding stoichiometry of DNA adducts with antibody studied by capillary electrophoresis and laser-induced fluorescence. Anal. Chem. 74 (2002) 3714-3719.
- [84] S. Hesse, B. Jernstrom, M. Martinez, P. Moldeus, L. Christodoulides, B. Ketterer. Inactivation of DNA-binding metabolites of benzo[a]pyrene and benzo[a]pyrene-7,8-dihydrodiol by glutathione and glutathione-S-transferases. Carcinogenesis. 3 (1982) 757-760.
- [85] D. Butkiewicz, E. Grzybowska, K. Hemminki, S. Ovrebo, A. Haugen, G. Motykiewicz, M. Chorazy. Modulation of DNA adduct levels in human mononuclear white blood cells and granulocytes by CYP1A1 CYP2D6 and GSTM1 genetic polymorphisms. Mutat Res. 415 (1998) 97-108.
- [86] J.D. Hayes, D.J. Pulford. The glutathione S-transferase supergene family: Regulation of GST and the contribution of the isoenzymes to cancer chemoprotection and drug resistance. Crit. Rev. Biochem. Mol. Biol. 30 (1995) 445-600.
- [87] S. Hesse, B. Jernstroem. Role of glutathione S-transferases: Detoxification of reactive metabolites of benzo(a)pyrene-7,8-dihydrodiol by conjugation with glutathione, in: G. Helmut, R. Jung, M. Kramer, H. Marquardt and F. Oesch (Eds.), Workshop Conference Hoechst, Grainau, 1982. (1983).

- [88] S.K. Srivastava, S.C. Watkins, E. Schuetz, S.V. Singh. Role of glutathione conjugate efflux in cellular protection against benzo[a]pyrene-7,8-diol-9,10-epoxide-induced DNA damage. Mol. Carcinog. 33 (2002) 156-162.
- [89] G.S. Guven, M. Guven, I. Onaran, T. Ulutin, S. Hacihanefioglu. The effect of glutathione S-transferase M1 genotype on benzo[a]pyrene-induced sister chromatid exchanges and chromosomal aberrations in peripheral blood lymphocytes. Turk J Med Sci. 35 (2005) 79-84.
- [90] Y.F. Wang, M.R. Spitz, M.B. Schabath, F. Ali-Osman, H. Mata, X.F. Wu. Association between glutathione S-transferase p1 polymorphisms and lung cancer risk in caucasians: A case-control study. Lung Cancer. 40 (2003) 25-32.
- [91] S.K. Srivastava, H. Xia, A. Pal, X. Hu, J.X. Guo, S.V. Singh. Potentiation of benzo(a)pyrene-induced pulmonary and forestomach tumorigenesis in mice by D,L-buthionine-S,R-sulfoximine-mediated tissue glutathione depletion. Cancer Lett. 153 (2000) 35-39.
- [92] R.J. Noelle, D.A. Lawrence. Determination if glutathione in lymphocytes and possible association of redox state and proliferative capacity of lymphocytes. Biochem. J. 198 (1981) 571-579.
- [93] S. Shantakumar, M.D. Gammon, S.M. Eng, S.K. Sagiv, M.M. Gaudet, S.L. Teitelbaum, J.A. Britton, M.B. Terry, A. Paykin, T.L. Young, L.W. Wang, Q. Wang, S.D. Stellman, J. Beyea. Residential environmental exposures and other characteristics associated with detectable PAH-DNA adducts in peripheral mononuclear cells in a population-based sample of adult females. J. Exposure Anal. Environ. Epidemiol. 15 (2005) 482-490.
- [94] F.J. Van Schooten, F.E. van Leeuwen, M.J. Hillebrand, M.E. de Rijke, A.A. Hart, H.G. van Veen, S. Oosterink, E. Kreik. Determination of benzo[a]pyrene diol epoxide-DNA adducts in white blood cell DNA from coke-oven workers: The impact of smoking. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 82 (1990) 927-933.
- [95] J.K. Wiencke. DNA adduct burden and tobacco carcinogenesis. Oncogene. 21 (2002) 7376-7391.
- [96] R. Shinozaki, S. Inoue, K.S. Choi, T. Tatsuno. Association of BPDE-DNA adduct level with aging in male smokers and nonsmokers. Arch Env Health. 54 (1999) 79-85.
- [97] D.H. Phillips, A. Hewer, P.L. Grover. Aromatic DNA adducts in human bone marrow and peripheral blood leukocytes. Carcinogenesis. 7 (1986) 2071-2075.

- [98] D.H. Phillips, B. Schoket, A. Hewer, E. Bailey, S. kostic, I. Vincze. Influence of cigarette smoking on the levels of DNA adducts in human bronchial epithelium and white blood cells. Int. J. Cancer. 46 (1990) 569-575.
- [99] M. Lodovici, C. Luceri, F. Guglielmi, C. Bacci, V. Akpan, M.L. Fonnesu, V. Boddi, P. Dolara. Benzo(a)pyrene diolepoxide (BPDE)-DNA adduct levels in leukocytes of smokers in relation to polymorphism of CYP1A1, GSTM1, GSTP1, GSTT1, and mEH. Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev. 13 (2004) 1342-1348.
- [100] J.M.S. van Maanen, L.M. Maas, G. Hageman, J.C.S. Kleinjans, B. Van Agen. DNA adduct and mutation analysis in white blood cells of smokers and non smokers. Environ Mol Mutag. 24 (1994) 46-50.
- [101] M. Rojas, K. Alexandrov, G. Auburtin, A. Wastiaux-Denamur, L. Mayer, B. Mahieu, P. Sebastien, H. Bartsch. Anti-benzo[a]pyrene diolepoxide-DNA adduct levels in peripheral mononuclear cells from coke oven workers and the enhancing effect of smoking. Carcinogenesis. 16 (1995) 1373-1376.

Chapter 2 Development of FIA/CE/LIF for the Detection of BPDE-DNA Adducts in Mononuclear White Blood Cells

2.1 Introduction

Our laboratory previously developed a FIA/CE/LIF technique suitable for the detection of BPDE-DNA adducts in lung cells [1,2]. This assay offers high specificity to BPDE-DNA adducts and is an extremely sensitive detection method. We extended this work by developing a FIA/CE/LIF method to measure BPDE-DNA adducts in MNCs. As discussed in Chapter 1, there are several BPDE-DNA adduct techniques available, including ³²P-postlabeling, immunoassays, mass spectrometry, and sequence specific ³²P-postlabelling is the most commonly used BPDE-DNA adduct analysis assays. technique. However this assay is not always ideal; disadvantages include the potential production of artifacts during DNA digestion, use of radioactive material, and limited specificity for BPDE-DNA adducts [3,4]. FIA/CE/LIF offers several advantages over the ³²P-postlabeling assay. Primarily, the use of specialized antibodies allows specific detection of BPDE-DNA adducts. Also, because FIA/CE/LIF does not require DNA digestion, the production of artifacts is avoided. Additionally, FIA/CE/LIF avoids the The sensitivity of FIA/CE/LIF is comparable to the use of radioactive material. sensitivity of other BPDE-DNA adduct detection methods [1,5].

A number of factors need to be optimized for efficient FIA/CE/LIF analysis of MNC DNA adducts. Parameters such as antibody concentrations, antibody incubation

time, and use of stability proteins will all have an effect on the binding of antibodies to the BPDE-DNA adduct complex. CE separation factors, including buffer pH, electric field strength, and sample injection time, will affect the peak resolution, elution time, and signal intensity of CE analysis. In the present study, these factors were assessed to determine the most optimal conditions for the method.

The use of MNCs for BPDE-DNA adduct analysis offers several advantages. A number of studies have identified MNCs as a suitable surrogate tissue for estimating DNA adduct levels in target tissue [6-8]. BPDE-DNA adducts in white blood cells have also been indicated as a risk factor for lung cancer [9,10]. Furthermore, blood is a relatively easy tissue to obtain and offers the potential for human biomonitoring. Development of a specific and sensitive method for BPDE-DNA adduct analysis in MNCs may help to clarify the relationship between BaP exposure and adduct formation, as well as characterize the role of BPDE-DNA adducts in BaP induced carcinogenesis. This may potentially lead to the use of BPDE-DNA adducts as biomarkers of exposure and preclinical markers of effect.

2.2.1 Development of BPDE-DNA Adduct Detection Method

2.2.1.1 BPDE preparation

 (\pm) -*r*-7,*t*-8-Dihydroxy-*t*-9,10-epoxy-7,8,9,10-tetrahydrobenzo[*a*]pyrene (BPDE) was obtained from the National Cancer Institute Chemical Carcinogen Reference Standard Repository (Midwest Research Institute, Kansas City, MO). A stock solution of 5 mM BPDE in dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO, Sigma, Oakville, ON) was prepared on the day of blood collection, and frozen at -20⁰C until required for incubation (~4 hours). BPDE solutions were thawed at room temperature immediately prior to use.

2.2.1.2 Mononuclear Cell Isolation

Ethical approval for this study was given by the Health Research Ethics Board at the University of Alberta. Consent was obtained from all blood donors who participated in the study. Volunteer blood samples (~40 mL) were drawn into BD Vacutainer® blood collection tubes containing 0.081 mL of 15% EDTA (Preanalytical Solutions, Franklin Lakes, NJ), and processed immediately after collection. Two different MNC isolation methods were used, both of which utilized Ficoll-Paque Plus (GE Healthcare, Piscataway, NJ) density gradients. Method 1 followed the manufacturer's suggested protocol [11]. Whole blood was layered on top of room temperature Ficoll-Paque Plus and centrifuged. The MNC layer was pipetted out and the isolated MNCs were washed twice with a salt solution. Method 2 was a slightly altered version of the manufacturer's suggested protocol. Whole blood was centrifuged, followed by collection of the buffy coat layer. The buffy coat was then layered on top of room temperature Ficoll-Paque Plus and centrifuged. The MNC layer was pipetted out and the isolated MNCs were washed twice with RPMI 1640 medium (Sigma, Oakville, ON) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS, Sigma, Oakville, ON), and 1% penicillin/ streptomycin (Sigma, Oakville, ON). For both methods, cells were suspended in the RPMI medium, and cell viability was assessed using trypan blue staining followed by hemacytometer counting. Leukocyte counts in whole blood and isolated MNCs were determined using a Beckman Coulter A^c-T Series Analyzer (Miami, FL).

2.2.1.3 BPDE Incubation

RPMI medium (5mL) was added to 6 cm polystyrene culture plates and warmed to 37^{0} C. BPDE (or DMSO control) was added to each plate according to final BPDE concentration required (1.0, 0.5, and 0 μ M). Final DMSO concentrations did not exceed 0.1% (v/v). An appropriate amount of cell suspension was added to each plate for a total concentration of 10^{6} cells/mL. Cells were incubated at 37^{0} C for 2 hours, followed by two washings with phosphate buffered saline (PBS, Sigma, Oakville, ON). BPDE can be hydrolyzed in aqueous solutions, and a short incubation of 2 hours is optimum to achieve BPDE-DNA adduct formation and minimize the hydrolysis of BPDE.

2.2.1.4 DNA Isolation

Three different DNA isolation methods were attempted in this study, including DNAzol (Invitrogen, Burlington, ON), Trevigen Genomic DNA Isolation Kit (Trevigen, Gaithersburg, MD), and BioRad Aquapure Genomic DNA Isolation Kit (BioRad, Hercules, CA). DNA was isolated following the suggested protocol from the respective manufacturer [12-14]. Briefly, DNAzol utilizes a guanidine-detergent lysing solution to disrupt the cells and hydrolyze RNA. DNA is then selectively precipitated with the addition of 100% ethanol (Commercial Alcohols Inc, Brampton, ON), air-dried, and dissolved in ddH₂O. The Trevigen kit utilizes a non-phenol, chloroform-based biphasic extraction to isolate DNA. Following the biphasic extraction, the DNA is precipitated with isopropanol (Fischer Scientific, Ottawa, ON), air-dried, and dissolved in ddH₂O. The Scientific, Ottawa, ON), air-dried, and dissolved in ddH₂O. The BioRad kit works by first lysing the cells with an anionic detergent in the presence of a DNA stabilizer. The sample is treated with an RNA-digesting enzyme to remove contaminating RNA, followed by a salt precipitation to remove protein and other contaminants. DNA is then precipitated with isopropanol, air-dried, and dissolved in a DNA hydration solution. DNA concentration was measured at A_{260} (SmartSpec 3000TM, BioRad, Hercules, CA) using ddH₂O as a blank. Samples were stored in water or DNA hydration solution at 4^oC until analysis.

2.2.1.5 FIA/CE/LIF

Anti-benzo(a)pyrene-guanosine monoclonal antibody (clone 8E11) (1^{0} -Ab), of ~150 kDa in size, was purchased from Trevigen (Gaithersburg, MD). The Zenon Alexa Fluor 546 Mouse IgG1 Fab fragment (2^{0} -Ab), of ~50 kDa in size, was purchased from Molecular Probes (Eugene, OR). 1x Tris-Glycine (TG) buffer (25mM Tris and 192 mM glycine at pH 8.3) was prepared from a 10x stock solution (BioRad, Hercules, CA) using ddH₂O. Buffer pH was adjusted using glacial acetic acid (Fischer, Fair Lawn, NJ) or Tris

powder (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA). The stabilizing agents bovine serum albumin (BSA) and human immunoglobulin G (IgG) were both purchased from Sigma (Oakville, ON).

Previous studies have shown that single-stranded DNA, rather than doublestranded DNA, is optimal for FIA/CE/LIF analysis [15]. Thus, DNA in 1x-TG buffer (pH 7.5) was heated at 95^oC for 15 min to allow DNA to denature. Immediately following denaturation, DNA was chilled on ice for a minimum of 30 min, and remained chilled until analysis. The antibody labeling solution was prepared using varying molar ratios of the 2⁰:1^o antibodies (6:1, 9:2, 3:1, 3:2, and 1:1), followed by addition of varying concentrations of BSA (0, 100, 500, and 1000 µg/ml) or human IgG (0, 50, and 100 µg/mL). A small volume of the antibody labeling solution was mixed with the denatured DNA, and incubated in the dark for various lengths of time (5-30 min). When initially starting the optimization process, the following conditions, derived from previous experiments, were used: 50 µg/mL DNA, 1000 µg/mL BSA, 20 µg/mL 1^o-Ab, 20 µg/mL 2^{o} -Ab, and an incubation time of 30 min.

The capillary electrophoresis – laser induced fluorescence instrument was laboratory built and has previously been described in detail [1,2,15-17]. Briefly, a CZE 1000R power supply (Spellman, Plainview, NY) provided voltages in the range of 0 to 30kV (Figure 3.1). A green helium-neon laser ($\lambda = 543.5$ nm, output 5mW) (Melles Griot, Carlsbad, CA) was focused onto a window in the capillary wall (6 cm from the end of the capillary) for on-column detection. Fluorescence was collected at 90⁰ using a 60X microscope objective, filtered with a 580DF40 band-pass filter, and detected with a

Novatron photomultiplier tube (PMT). The sampling rate for collection of data was 10 Hz. The LabVIEW program (National Instruments, Austin, TX) on a Macintosh IIci computer was used to control sample injection time/voltage, separation voltage, and run time, as well as collection of data from the PMT. Fused silica capillaries (20 μ m i.d., 148 μ m o.d.) were purchased from Polymicro Technologies (Phoenix, AZ). The instrument was aligned using the fluorescent dye tetramethylrhodamine (TMR, Sigma, Oakville, ON).

Samples were electrokinetically injected into the capillary by applying a voltage of 10 kV for a brief period of time (5 or 10s). The capillary was washed every two samples with 100 mM NaOH for 5 min, 20 mM NaOH for 5 min, ddH₂O for 5 min, and 1x-TG buffer (pH 8.3) for 3 min. The following conditions, derived from previous experiments, were used when initially starting the optimization process: 484 V/cm (15 kV running voltage, 31 cm capillary), 10 s injection time at 10 kV, and 1x TG running buffer (pH 8.3). The sample injection time (5-10 seconds) and the electric field (323, 484, 517, and 645 V/cm) were varied to determine the optimum electrophoretic conditions. The sample and running buffers (1x TG, pH 7.5 and 8.3, respectively) were kept consistent with previous experiments [1,2,15-17].



Figure 2.1 Schematic of the CE-LIF laboratory-built instrument. The sample is injected at the positive end of the capillary (Vial A), and the negative end of the capillary sits in a buffer reservoir (Vial B). PMT: photomultiplier tube.

2.2.1.6 CE/LIF Data Analysis

Peak area and peak height are two methods used for peak quantitation, the former being more commonly used. Although peak area is sensitive to integration start and end times, it is more accurate for quantifying asymmetric peaks and is the main approach for identifying relationships between peaks and analyte concentration [18]. Previously developed FIA/CE/LIF methods also utilized peak area for quantitation [2,15,16]. The relative peak area (RPA), which indicates the proportion of fluorescent antibody bound to DNA adducts, was used as the measurement of comparison in this study. RPA was determined by comparing the area of the adduct complex peak to total peak area. Standard error (SE) was used as the measurement of variability for RPAs. Generation of electropherograms and integration of peaks was performed using Igor Pro Version 4.0 (Wavemetrics, Lake Oswega, OR).

2.2.2 BPDE Dose-Response Assessment

2.2.2.1 BPDE preparation

A stock solution of 5 mM BPDE dissolved in DMSO was prepared on the same day as the experiment. The 5 mM solution was further diluted into solutions of 0.6 mM and 0.15 mM. All three solutions were frozen at -20° C until required for incubation (~4 hours). BPDE solutions were thawed at room temperature immediately prior to use.

2.2.2.2 Mononuclear Cell Isolation and BPDE Incubation

MNCs were isolated from a 70mL blood sample as described above (*Section 2.2.1.2, method 2*). 70 mL of whole blood provided a sufficient number of MNCs for 18 incubation culture plates. Six different BPDE concentrations (0, 0.0625, 0.125, 0.25, 0.50, and 1.00 μ M) were assessed in triplicate. The cell concentration was 10⁶ cells/mL in 3 mL of RPMI 1640 medium. Cells were incubated at 37^oC for 2 hours, followed by two washings with PBS. Trypan blue and hemacytometer counting were used to assess cell viability before and after BPDE incubations.

2.2.2.3 DNA Isolation

DNA was isolated using the BioRad Aquapure Genomic DNA Isolation Kit (*Section 2.2.1.4*). DNA was dissolved in a DNA hydration solution, and DNA concentration was measured at A_{260} . All samples were diluted to 100 µg/mL with DNA hydration solution, and stored at 4° C until analysis.

2.2.2.4 FIA-CE-LIF

FIA-CE-LIF is described in detail above (*Section 2.2.1.5*). The following immunoassay conditions were used for DNA adduct detection: 50 µg/mL DNA, 1x TG sample buffer (pH 7.5), 50 µg/mL human IgG, 10 µg/mL 1⁰-Ab, 20 µg/mL 2⁰-Ab, and 15 min incubation time. The electrophoretic conditions used were 1x TG running buffer (pH

8.3), a 29 cm capillary with the detection window at 23cm, and a 10s injection time at 10 kV. Electrophoresis was run at 15 kV (517 V/cm) for 4 min.

2.2.2.5 CE/LIF Data Analysis

Adduct complex RPAs were calculated and compared between samples. Weighted least squares regression analysis (SPSS 15.0, Chicago, IL) was used to assess the relationship between dose and response. Statistical significance of the linear regression line was evaluated with the student's *t*-test.

2.3 **Results and Discussion**

2.3.1 Development and Optimization of BPDE-DNA Adduct Detection Method

2.3.1.1 MNC Isolation

Initial attempts to isolate MNCs utilized the Ficoll-Paque Plus suggested protocol. However, recoveries were very low, ranging from 1- 2.5%. GE Healthcare, the manufacturer of Ficoll-Paque Plus, states that MNC recoveries with this product should range from 40-60% [11]. It is possible that the majority of the MNCs became trapped in aggregates of red blood cells (RBCs) and migrated to the bottom layer of the tube. To overcome this problem, we attempted to remove the bulk of the RBCs prior to addition of Ficoll-Paque Plus. In this method, the buffy coat, rather than whole blood, was applied to

Ficoll-Paque density gradients. Following these alterations, MNC recoveries were 33-52%, suggesting that MNC aggregation in RBCs was likely a reason for the low MNC recovery. All further experimentation utilized the adjusted method to isolate MNCs.

Following every MNC isolation procedure (n=7), cell viability was assessed using trypan blue staining followed by hemacytometer counting. Cell viabilities were consistently high, ranging from 97-99%. Cell viability was also assessed post-incubation once during the method development process; following 2 hours of exposure to 1 μ M BPDE or DMSO control, cell viabilities were 98% and 95%, respectively.

2.3.1.2 DNA Isolation

DNAzol was the first DNA extraction reagent used for DNA isolation. The DNAzol suggested protocol for isolation of DNA in cell suspensions was followed, however three major problems were encountered during the procedure. Firstly, the DNAzol protocol indicated that cell lysis should occur immediately after mixing of cells with DNAzol, however the cells had to be left in DNAzol overnight in order to be fully lyzed. Secondly, the protocol stated that DNA precipitation should occur within 1-3 min of addition of ice cold ethanol, yet the samples required freezing at -20^oC for an extended period of time (1+ hours or overnight) for DNA precipitation to occur. Thirdly, there were difficulties dissolving the DNA in water. Incubating the DNA samples at 37^oC overnight, and addition of 8mM NaOH were both attempted in order to improve dissolution, but neither procedure helped. Expected DNA yields were calculated based

on a theoretical value of 7.1 μ g DNA per 10⁶ cells [12]. The manufacturer states normal yields should range from 70-100% [12], however DNA recoveries ranged from 1-16%, with an average value of 10%.

Although several studies report successful use of DNAzol for DNA extraction from MNCs [19-21], DNAzol was not an acceptable extraction reagent for this project. Possible reasons for the observed problems may be that the DNAzol was outdated, the protocol was not followed properly, and/or the ratio of MNCs to DNAzol volume was not appropriate.

Because problems were experienced with DNAzol, DNA extraction kits from Trevigen and BioRad were tried. Isolation of DNA using the Trevigen DNA Extraction Kit resulted in DNA that was slow to precipitate and a low recovery (~14%). The BioRad DNA Extraction Kit was the easiest and most efficient method for DNA extraction. There were fewer problems with cell lysis and DNA precipitation, as both steps occurred more quickly than with the other two kits. Additionally, dissolution of DNA occurred relatively quick in comparison to dissolution of DNA extracted using DNAzol. DNA recoveries with the BioRad kit ranged from 26-96%, with an average value of 43%. Based on the percent recovery and ease of procedure, the BioRad kit provided the most efficient DNA isolation method and was used for all further experiments in this study. DNA recoveries in subsequent experiments consistently ranged between 30-50%.

2.3.1.3 Immunoelectrophoresis Method Optimization

The first condition tested was antibody concentration. To ensure all DNA adducts are bound, it is important that the concentration of the antibodies be in excess of the adduct concentration [5]. Additionally, a major factor for determining optimal antibody concentrations is the $2^{\circ}:1^{\circ}$ molar ratio, as the mass of the 1° -Ab is ~3 times that of the 2⁰-Ab [22]. In the present study, the antibody molar ratio had a significant effect on adduct complex peak signal (Table 2.1). At a 1:1 ratio, adduct complex RPAs were very small. A ratio of 3:2 resulted in low total peak area, indicating there was not enough 2^{0} -Ab to produce a sufficient signal. Antibody ratios of 6:1(a) and 9:2 had very high total peak areas, indicating the amount of 2^{0} -Ab was too high. The 3:1 and 6:1(b) ratios provided reasonable total peak areas and acceptable adduct complex RPAs. However, the 6:1(b) ratio had adduct complex RPAs double to those of the 3:1 ratio of antibodies, indicating improved complex formation. The 6:1(b) ratio was tested repeatedly to assess consistency of results. Average RPAs and standard errors are displayed in Table 2.2. The manufacturer's suggested molar ratio is 3:1, however, they also state that higher ratios may be needed in some experiments [22]. This supports our finding of an optimal antibody molar ratio of 6:1.

Table 2.1 The Effect of Varying Antibody Molar Ratios on RPAs and Total Peak Areas in BPDE-DNAAdduct Analysis of MNCs.

-

	Label Kit 1	Label Kit 2	Label Kit 3	Label Kit 4	Label Kit 5	Label Kit 6
[1º Ab] (µg/mL)	60	20	20	20	20	10
[2⁰ Ab] (µg/mL)	20	10	40	30	20	20
Antibody Molar Ratio (2º:1º)	1:1	3:2	6:1(a)	9:2	3:1	6:1(b)
Avg RPA (%) (0.5 μM BPDE)	1.5	5.8	6.1	5.5	5.8	12.6
Avg RPA (%) (1.0 μM BPDE)	3.6	9.1	7.4	12.9	9.3	21.9
Total Peak Area (Arb Units)	516	272	744	790	557	573

.

[BPDE] (µM)	Avg RPA (%)	SE (%)	n
1.0	21	1.2	4
0.5	11	1.2	4
0	0.5	0.1	2

Table 2.2 Average RPAs and Standard Errors (SE) from BPDE-DNA Adduct Analysisof MNCs Using a 20:10 Antibody Ratio of 6:1 (Label Kit 6).

n=number of repeat FIA/CE/LIF analyses

Stability proteins have been shown to enhance and stabilize antibody-antigen interactions during FIA/CE/LIF analysis [2]. This effect is thought to be due to interactions of non-specific protein with antibodies and DNA, which may stabilize the conformations of the antibodies and adducts for optimal binding. The effect of the stability proteins BSA and human IgG on adduct detection were assessed in this study. DNA originated from MNCs exposed to 0.5 μ M BPDE for 2 hours, and the concentration of the stability proteins was varied during BPDE-DNA adduct analysis. As shown in Table 2.3, when BSA concentration was 1000 μ g/mL, adduct complex RPA was lowest (12%). At BSA concentrations of 500 μ g/mL and 100 μ g/mL, adduct complex RPA improved to 20 ± 0.2% and 22 ± 2.4%, respectively. Similar RPAs were found when using 100 μ g/mL IgG (24.5 ± 6.3%) or no stability protein (25.2 ± 3.5%). The highest adduct complex RPA was found with 50 μ g/mL IgG (37.0 ± 0.6%). Additionally, IgG

appeared to be a better stability agent than BSA as sharper peaks were produced and there was less peak splitting. The combination of 50 μ g/mL IgG with 90 μ g/mL BSA was also evaluated, however the addition of BSA made no apparent improvement on complex stability. For all further experiments, 50 μ g/mL IgG was used as the stability protein. Previous studies also determined IgG to be a better stabilizing agent than BSA [2].

Table 2.3 The Effect of BSA and IgG on BPDE-DNA Adduct Complex RPAs.

Stability Protein	Concentration (µg/mL)	Avg RPA (%)	SE (%)	n
BSA	1000	12	-	1
BSA	500	20	0.2	2
BSA	100	22	2.4	2
lgG	100	25	6.3	2
lgG	50	37	0.6	2
None	0	25	3.5	2

n=number of repeat FIA/CE/LIF analyses

Antibody and adduct incubation times ranging from 5 min to 30 min have been reported previously [1,2,16,17]. In this study, incubation time did not appear to cause any major changes in adduct migration time or peak shape, as shown in Figure 2.2. However, an incubation time of 5 min produced a slightly broader adduct complex peak. The effect of antibody incubation time on RPA is displayed in Table 2.4. RPAs from

DNA exposed to 0.25 μ M BPDE did not differ significantly with varying antibody incubation times; however, slight variations were observed with DNA exposed to 0.5 μ M BPDE. A possible explanation for this observation is that there is more variation in FIA/CE/LIF analysis with higher DNA adduct concentration. Alternatively, antibody incubation time may have a greater effect on adduct binding when adduct concentrations are higher. Because of this possibility, the optimal antibody incubation time of 25 min, the relative adduct complex peak area was low, though experimental error cannot be excluded as a cause. Incubation times of 10, 15, or 20 min allowed for maximum adduct complex formation, while remaining time efficient. All further experiments utilized an incubation time of 15 min as this produced the highest adduct complex RPA, and thus was an optimal time for antibody-adduct complex formation.

Table 2.4 Effect of Antibody Incubation Time on RPA from FIA/CE/LIF Analysis of MNCs Exposed to 0.25 μM or 0.50 μM BPDE.

Incubation	Relative Peak Area (%)		
Time	0.25 μM BPDE	0.50 μM BPDE	
30 min	7.7	36.9	
25 min	8.7	21.9	
20 min	8.7	36.3	
15 min	8.5	41.6	
10 min	8.9	35.0	
5 min	9.0	32.6	


Figure 2.2 Effect of antibody incubation time on adduct complex formation. DNA samples from MNCs exposed to 0.5 μ M BPDE were incubated with 1⁰ and 2⁰ antibodies for 5 to 30 min. Peak 1: free 2⁰ and 2⁰-1⁰ antibody complexes; Peak 2: 2⁰-1⁰-BPDE-DNA complexes; RPA: relative peak area.

The electric field had a significant effect on peak migration time. Increasing the electric field will increase the EOF, which results in faster movement of molecules through the capillary [5]. Separation was assessed using a 31 cm capillary with the voltage ranging from 10 to 20 kV. The adduct complex peak elution time for electric fields of 645, 484, and 323 V/cm was on average 2.2, 3.1, and 4.7 min, respectively (Figure 2.3). Adduct complex RPA remained relatively the same at all three voltages. Resolution of peaks occurred at the highest voltage, however there was some instrument static produced with the use of 20 kV. The peak elution time was then assessed using a shorter capillary (29 cm) with 15 kV separation voltage. This produced an electric field of 517 V/cm, which allowed for faster separation (~3 min) than at 484 V/cm, but without the production of instrument static. An electric field of 517 V/cm was used for all remaining experiments.

A sample injection time of 5 seconds and 10 seconds were both assessed. A shorter injection time of 5 seconds did not have an effect on peak shape. As expected, the total peak area was smaller with an injection time of 5 seconds compared to 10 seconds, because a smaller amount of fluorescently labeled antibody was injected into the capillary. A sample injection time of 10 seconds was chosen for all further experiments as this produced the optimal signal intensity.



Figure 2.3 Effect of electric field strength on CE separation. DNA samples from MNCs exposed to 0.5 μ M BPDE for 2 hours were separated at different electric field strengths. Peak 1: free 2⁰ and 2⁰-1⁰ antibody complexes; Peak 2: 2⁰-1⁰-BPDE-DNA complexes.

2.3.1.4 CE/LIF Data Analysis

In carrying out quantitative analysis of the peaks, two problems were encountered. Firstly, the signal did not always return to baseline after the free antibody peak. Secondly, there was tailing of the free antibody peak. For these reasons, the two peaks of interest overlapped, making deconvolution techniques necessary for peak integration.

The perpendicular drop method of peak integration is among the most reliable and simple of deconvolution techniques [23]. Though there are inherent inaccuracies in this type of integration, the perpendicular drop is widely used in peak area determination in chromatography. The perpendicular drop is most accurate when the overlapped peaks are similar in size and width. However, when peaks are different in size and width, the peak area of the smaller peak becomes overestimated while the peak area of the larger peak becomes underestimated [23,24]. When peak widths are significantly different or when peaks have considerable tailing, Gaussian skimming can be a more reliable approach [24-26]. This deconvolution technique takes into account the Gaussian shape of the parent peak, which in our case is the free antibody peak.

In Figure 2.4, the electropherogram from free antibodies is overlaid with a typical sample electropherogram. To help prevent possible overestimation of peak 2, the Gaussian skimming method of integration was performed to account for the tailing of peak 1. Because our data processing software did not have capabilities to automatically

perform Gaussian skimming, a slightly modified version of this integration was done manually (Figure 2.5a). The percentage of tailing at the end of peak 1 was consistently in the range of 4-5% of the total area of peak 1. For example, the shaded area in Figure 2.5a accounts for 4.8% of peak 1. To account for this tailing in the peak 1/peak 2 overlap and minimize the overestimation of peak 2 RPA, 4.8 % of the area of peak 1 (11 (arbitrary units)) was subtracted from the area of peak 2 and added to the area of peak 1 (Figure 2.5b). The adjusted peak areas were then used to calculate RPA. In this example, the original RPA of peak 2 was 54%, while the adjusted RPA of peak 2 was 51%. For all further experiments, antibodies were analyzed without DNA on each day of analysis to determine the percentage of tailing for that particular day; typical tailing percentages ranged from 4.2 - 4.8%.

The separation point between the two peaks was chosen as the point at which the adduct complex peak appears to deviate from the free antibody peak (Figure 2.4). Although somewhat arbitrarily chosen, separating the peaks at this data point allowed quantification of the entire peak area for peak 2. The elevated baseline observed at the start of peak 2 may be due to dissociation of bound antibodies from DNA adducts [27,28]. This is supported by the observation that a higher BPDE exposure concentration resulted in a higher baseline level between peak 1 and peak 2. This is understandable because the formation and dissociation of the antibody-adduct complex are in equilibrium; the proportion of dissociation stays the same with varying DNA adduct levels. This means that at higher adduct concentrations, the absolute number of dissociating antibodies will be higher than at lower adduct concentrations, resulting in a higher baseline following peak 1. The antibodies have a certain binding affinity for the antigen, and this binding affinity can change with pH, temperature, or solvent [29]. The conditions inside the capillary may have favored some dissociation of the DNA adduct complex, leading to the elevated baseline. Additionally, the Ab manufacturer states that some loss of Ab may occur over time, as the Ab is not covalently bound to the antigen [22].

As errors in any deconvolution method are difficult to avoid, the reproducibility of the quantitative analysis becomes a very important concern [30]. The manual Gaussian skim data analysis technique provided the most consistent results for peak area quantification (see *Section 2.3.2* for discussion on variability). The tailing of the free antibody peak was accounted for, as well as the apparent dissociation of the antibodies from the adduct complex. All further data was analyzed using this method.



Figure 2.4 Overlay of the control electropherogram (2^0 and 1^0 antibodies only, no DNA) and a typical 1.0 μ M BPDE sample electropherogram. Peak 1 cutoff point is indicated at the point where the two electropherograms begin to deviate. Peak 1: free 2^0 and 2^0-1^0 antibody complexes; Peak 2: 2^0-1^0 -BPDE-DNA complexes.



Figure 2.5 (a) BPDE-DNA adduct analysis of 2^{0} and 1^{0} antibodies only (no DNA). Shaded area indicates peak 1 tailing portion. (b) BPDE-DNA adduct analysis following cellular exposure to 1.0 μ M BPDE. Adjusted peak 2 values account for 4.8% tailing of peak 1. See text for description of calculations. Peak 1: free 2^{0} and 2^{0} - 1^{0} antibody complexes; Peak 2: 2^{0} - 1^{0} -BPDE-DNA complexes.

2.3.2 BPDE Dose-Response Assessment

Figure 2.6 displays typical electropherograms from BPDE-DNA adduct analysis following cellular exposure to varying concentrations of BPDE. As BPDE concentration increased, the size of the BPDE-DNA adduct complex peak (peak 2) also increased. RPAs for all samples were quantified and plotted against concentration to determine if a dose-response relationship exists. Figure 2.7 displays data from the dose-response analysis, and a linear correlation was observed. Because the standard error was not consistent across all of the data, weighted least squares regression, which accounts for unequal variance, was used to analyze the regression. Utilizing weights that are inversely proportional to the variance yields more precise parameter estimates [31]. The weighted least squares linear equation was y = 43x + 2.1. The t-test of H₀: slope = 0 vs H_A: slope > 0 gives a *p*-value of <0.0005, indicating there is a significant correlation between BPDE concentration and RPA.

Within sample variability and between sample variability were both assessed in this study (Table 2.5). Within-sample variability refers to the variability in RPA values from a minimum of three analyses using DNA from a single incubation plate. The variability appeared to increase with increasing BPDE concentration. A possible reason for this may be because as the level of adducts increases, there may be more variation in the level of antibody-adduct binding during each immunoassay. This variation may become more apparent at higher adduct levels, and thereby increase the standard error. Another source of error may be in the data analysis technique. The end point of peak 1 is somewhat subjective, and the identification of this endpoint became more difficult to determine at higher BPDE concentrations. This may have lead to slight variations in calculated RPA values. However, moving the endpoint of peak 1 up to 25 data points in either direction had a minimal impact on calculated RPAs.

Table 2.5 Average RPA and Standard Errors (SE) from BPDE-DNA Adduct Analysisof MNCs Exposed to Various Concentrations of BPDE

[BPDE] (µM)	Avg RPA (%)	Avg Within-	Between-	n
		Sample SE (%)	Sample SE(%)	
1.00	46.8	1.9	4.6	3
0.50	28.5	1.7	6.5	3
0.25	16.3	1.4	2.9	3
0.13	10.8	0.9	2.2	3
0.06	5.9	0.8	3.0	3
0	2.3	0.7	0.2	3

n=number of separate incubation plates



Figure 2.6 Electropherograms from BPDE-DNA adduct analysis following cellular exposure to varying concentrations of BPDE. Peak 1: free 2^0 and 2^0-1^0 antibody complexes; Peak 2: 2^0-1^0 -BPDE-DNA complexes.



Figure 2.7 Dose-response relationship between BPDE concentration and DNA adduct complex relative peak areas. Isolated MNCs were incubated with varying concentrations of BPDE for 2 hours at 37^{0} C. Incubations were performed in triplicate for each concentration. Best fit line was determined using weighted least squares regression.

Between sample variability refers to the variability in average RPA values from analyses using DNA from 3 separate incubation plates exposed to the same BPDE concentration. As indicated in Table 2.5, between sample variation was found to be higher than within sample variation at all BPDE concentrations except for the control (0 μ M BPDE). It is expected that the between sample variability would be greater than within sample variability as there are more potential sources of error between multiple plates than for a single plate. For example, it was difficult to ensure an accurate and equal dispersion of cells in each culture plate due to clumping of MNCs. Therefore, the cell concentration may have varied from plate to plate, resulting in varied formation of adducts between plates. Another possibility may be slight variations in pipette volumes, perhaps leading to differences in BPDE concentrations in each plate.

At this time, it is not known to what extent the variability can be attributed to sampling variation rather than analytical variation. The within sample variability and the between sample variability can be better estimated with the use of a known BPDE-DNA adduct standard for FIA/CE/LIF analysis. Alternatively, analysis of the same MNC samples using an alternative acceptable method would allow comparisons of the variation in FIA/CE/LIF to the variation observed with other techniques.

2.4 Conclusion

This study demonstrates development of a new assay for the detection of BPDE-DNA adducts in MNCs. Following optimization of several different assay

parameters, we were able to detect BPDE-DNA adducts in MNCs exposed to nanomolar concentrations of BPDE. Additionally, we observed a linear correlation between BPDE concentration and adduct complex formation. Although only relative comparisons were made in this study, quantitative analyses of adduct formation are possible with the use of BPDE-DNA adduct standards. This would also allow the determination of DNA adduct detection limits. Applications of this method in human biomonitoring studies and *in vitro* assays will further test the suitability of FIA/CE/LIF for BPDE-DNA adduct analysis in MNCs.

2.5 References

- W.G. Tan, T.J. Carnelley, P. Murphy, H. Wang, J. Lee, S. Barker, M. Weinfeld, X.C. Le. Detection of DNA adducts of benzo[a]pyrene using immunoelectrophoresis with laser-induced fluorescence analysis of A549 cells. J. Chrom A. 924 (2001) 377-386.
- H. Wang, M. Lu, M. Weinfeld, X.C. Le. Enhancement of immunocomplex detection and application to assays for DNA adduct of benzo[a]pyrene. Anal. Chem. 75 (2003) 247-254.
- [3] J.A. Timbrell. Biomarkers in toxicology. Toxicol. 129 (1998) 1-12.
- [4] M.C. Poirier. DNA adducts as exposure biomarkers and indicators of cancer risk. Env. Health Perspect. 105 (1997) 907-912.
- [5] X.C. Le, V. Pavski, H. Wang. 2002 W.A.E McBryde award lecture Affinity recognition, capillary electrophoresis, and laser-induced fluorescence polarization for ultrasensitive bioanalysis. Can. J. Chem. 83 (2005) 185-194.
- [6] J.K. Wiencke, S.W. Thurston, K.T. Kelsey, A. Varkonyi, J.C. Wain, E.J. Mark, D.C. Christiani. Early age at smoking initiation and tobacco carcinogen DNA damage in the lung. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 91 (1999) 614-619.
- [7] J.K. Wiencke, K.T. Kelsey, A. Varkonyi, K. Semey, J.C. Wain, E. Mark, D.C. Christiani. Correlation of DNA adducts in blood mononuclear cells with tobacco carcinogen-induced damage in human lung. Cancer Res. 55 (1995) 4910-4914.
- [8] R.W.L. Godschalk, E.J.C. Moonen, P.A.E.L. Schilderman, W.M.R. Broekmans, J.C.S. Kleinjans, F.J. Van Schooten. Exposure-route-dependent DNA adduct formation by polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. Carcinogenesis. 21 (2000) 87-92.
- [9] S.V. Vulimiri, X. Wu, W. Baer-Dubowska, M. De Andrade, M. Detry, M.R. Spitz, J. DiGiovanni. Analysis of aromatic DNA adducts and 7,8-dihydro-8oxo-2'-deoxyguanosine in lymphocyte DNA from a case-control study of lung cancer involving minority populations. Mol. Carcinog. 27 (2000) 34-46.
- [10] D. Tang, D.H. Phillips, M. Stampfer, L.V.A. Mooney, Y. Hsu, S. Cho, W.-. Tsai, J. Ma, K.J. Cole, M.N. She, F.P. Perera. Association between carcinogen-DNA adducts in white blood cells and lung cancer risk in the physicians health study. Cancer Res. 61 (2001) 6708-6712.

- [11] GE Healthcare. Ficoll-paque plus. (2007). Retrieved from http://www6.gelifesciences.com/aptrix/upp00919.nsf/Content/73C41164B7100 33FC1256FBA000DBFCA/\$file/71716700AG.pdf on 04/13/07.
- [12] Invitrogen Life Technologies. DNAzol reagant. (2001). Retrieved from http://www.invitrogen.com/content/sfs/manuals/10503.pdf on 04/13/07.
- [13] Trevigen. Genomic DNA Isolation Kit. (Year not stated). Retrieved from http://www.trevigen.com/Protocols/4850-20-GD.pdf on 04/13/07.
- Bio-Rab Laboratories. AquaPure Genomic DNA Kits. (Year not stated).
 Retrieved from <u>http://www.bio-</u> rad.com/cmc_upload/0/000/033/796/4006178C.pdf on 04/13/07.
- [15] T.J. Carnelley, S. Barker, H. Wang, W.G. Tan, M. Weinfeld, X.C. Le. Synthesis, characterization, and applications of a fluorescent probe of DNA damage. Chem. Res. Toxicol. 14 (2001) 1513-1522.
- [16] H. Wang, J. Xing, W. Tan, M. Lam, T. Carnelley, M. Weinfeld, X.C. Le. Binding stoichiometry of DNA adducts with antibody studied by capillary electrophoresis and laser-induced fluorescence. Anal. Chem. 74 (2002) 3714-3719.
- [17] H. Wang, M. Lu, N. Mei, J. Lee, M. Weinfeld, X.C. Le. Immunoassays using capillary electrophoresis laser induced fluorescence detection for DNA adducts. Anal. Chim. Acta. 500 (2003) 13-20.
- [18] H.M. Hill, J. Smeraglia, R.R. Brodie, G.T. Smith. Where do you draw the line? points to consider when implementing the FDA method validation guidance on quantifying chromatographic peaks. Chromatographia. 55 (2002) S79-S81.
- [19] Y. Fujiwara, D. Chi, H. Wang, P. Keleman, D.L. Morton, R. Turner, D. Hoon. Plasma DNA microsatellites as tumor-specific markers and indicators of tumor progression in melanoma patients. Cancer Res. 59 (1999) 1567-1571.
- [20] K. Yamashita, K. Yui, M. Ueda, A. Yano. Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-mediated lysis of toxoplasma gondii-infected target cells does not lead to death of intracellular parasites. Infect. Immun. 66 (1998) 4651-4655.
- B. Taback, S. Saha, D. Hoon. Comparative analysis of mesenteric and peripheral blood circulating tumor DNA in colorectal cancer patients. Ann. NY. Acad. Sci. 1075 (2006) 197-203.
- [22] Molecular Probes. Zenon Mouse IgG Labeling Kits. (2005). Retrieved from http://probes.invitrogen.com/media/pis/mp25000.pdf on 04/13/07.

- [23] A.N. Papas, T.P. Tougas. Accuracy of peak deconvolution algorithms within chromatographic integrators. Anal. Chem. 62 (1990) 234-239.
- [24] W. Schafer. Peak skimming for overlapping peaks. in: J. Cazes (Ed.),
 Encyclopedia of Chromatographia, Taylor and Francis, London, UK, 2005, pp. 1203-1204.
- [25] M.K.L. Bicking. Integration errors in chromatographic analysis, part I: Peaks of approximately equal size. LCGC. 24 (2006) 402-414.
- [26] M.K.L. Bicking. Integration errors in chromatographic analysis, part II: Large peak size ratios. LCGC. 24 (2006) 604.
- [27] Q.H. Wan, X.C. Le. Capillary electrophoretic immunoassays for digoxin and gentamicin with laser-induced fluorescence polarization detection. J. Chrom. B. 734 (1999) 31-38.
- [28] N.H.H. Heegaard, R.T. Kennedy. Antigen-antibody interactions in capillary electrophoresis. J. Chrom. B. 768 (2002) 93-103.
- [29] Chemicon. Introduction to antibodies. (2007). Retrieved from http://www.chemicon.com/resource/ANT101/a1.asp on 04/28/07.
- [30] A. Fozard, J.J. Franses, A. Wyatt. An analysis of the errors in the computerised gas chromatography. Chromatographia. 5 (1972) 377-381.
- [31] W. Guthrie, J. Filliben, A. Heckert. Process modelling. in: C. Croarkin and P. Tobias (Eds.), NIST/SEMATECH e-Handbook of Statistical Methods. (2003). Retrieved from http://www.itl.nist.gov/div898/handbook/pmd/pmd.htm, on 04/12/07.

Chapter 3 Effect of Glutathione Depletion on BPDE-DNA Adduct Formation

3.1 Introduction

Possible BPDE detoxification pathways in the body include spontaneous hydrolysis, hydrolysis catalyzed by epoxide hydrolase, and glutathione (GSH) inactivation [1,2]. Of the three, the latter is considered the most significant [3,4]. As shown in Figure 3.1, glutathione-S-transferase (GST) enzymes catalyze the addition of GSH to electrophilic regions of BPDE [5,6]. The added GSH group inactivates BPDE, as well as increases its hydrophilicity. This in turn allows the body to eliminate BPDE more easily.

Buthionine sulfoximine (BSO) is a potent inhibitor of GSH synthesis [7]. BSO binds and inhibits γ -glutamylcysteine synthetase (γ -GCS), an enzyme involved in the rate-limiting step of GSH biosynthesis [8,9]. The inhibition of γ -GCS, and thus GSH synthesis, eventually leads to the cellular depletion of GSH. The resultant decrease in GSH causes a reduction in GST enzyme activity. BSO has been successfully used for cellular GSH depletion in a number of *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies [10-15]. Since GST enzymes are considered to play an important role in BPDE detoxification, a decrease in GSH, and thus a loss of GST enzyme activity, should theoretically result in an increase in BPDE-DNA adduct formation.



Figure 3.1 Structures of BPDE enantiomers and their resultant GSH conjugates [5].

Correlations between GST phenotypes and BPDE-DNA adducts in MNCs have been assessed in multiple studies [16-19]. Additionally, *in vivo* assays have demonstrated that exposure to BSO prior to BaP exposure increases BaP-induced tumorogenicity [14]. However, *in vitro* assays evaluating the effect of GSH and GST enzyme activity specifically on BPDE-DNA adduct formation in MNCs have not been done. To test whether GSH and GST enzymes play an important role in BPDE detoxification in MNCs, cells were co-exposed to BPDE plus BSO. The levels of BPDE-DNA adducts in these cells were then compared to adduct levels in MNCs exposed to BPDE only. In carrying out this study, we were also able to verify the use of FIA/CE/LIF for *in vitro* DNA adduct analyses in MNCs.

3.2 Experimental Methods

A stock solution of 5 mM BPDE dissolved in DMSO was prepared on the same day as the experiment, and frozen at -20^oC until required for incubation. The BPDE solution was thawed at room temperature prior to use. A 1 mM stock solution of DLbuthionine-[S,R]-sulfoximine (Sigma, Oakville, ON) in RPMI was also prepared in the morning prior to the experiment. The BSO solution was stored at 4^oC until required for incubation.

MNCs isolated from a 40 mL blood sample (as described in Chapter 2) were exposed to either 150 μ M BSO alone, 0.5 μ M BPDE alone, or 150 μ M BSO + 0.5 μ M BPDE. The cell concentration was 10⁶ cells/mL in 3 mL of RPMI 1640 medium. Four different exposure protocols for the plates containing both BSO and BPDE were evaluated: *i*. co-exposure with BSO and BPDE for 2 hours, *ii*. 2 hours pre-exposure with BSO followed by 2 hours BPDE exposure, *iii*. 4 hours pre-exposure with BSO followed by 2 hours BPDE exposure, and *iv*. 14 hours pre-exposure with BSO followed by 2 hours BPDE exposure. Pre-treatment with BSO for 2 hours (exposure protocol *ii*) was chosen as the optimal exposure time. This experiment was repeated using MNCs from a second donor, utilizing three separate incubation plates for each of the BSO control group, the BPDE control group, and the BPDE+BSO group. Trypan blue staining and hemacytometer counting were used to assess cell viability before and after BSO and BPDE incubations.

DNA isolation was performed using BioRad Aquapure Genomic DNA Isolation Kit. The immunoassay and electrophoretic conditions for BPDE-DNA adduct detection, as well as the data analysis procedures, were the same as described in Chapter 2. Statistical differences between adduct complex RPAs following exposure to BSO, BPDE, or BSO + BPDE were analyzed with the student's *t*-test.

3.3 Results

Following MNC exposure to BSO and BPDE simultaneously for 2 hours, there was a slight, although not significant, difference seen in RPA; BPDE control RPA was $11.4 \pm 0.3\%$ compared to $13.1 \pm 0.9\%$ for co-exposure to BPDE + BSO (Table 3.1). Pre-exposure of MNCs to BSO for 2 hours or 4 hours prior to addition of BPDE (19.4 ± 0.8%

and 19.8 \pm 2.4%, respectively) resulted in a higher RPA than cells exposed only to BPDE. However, only the 2 hour pre-incubation was statistically significant when compared to MNCs exposed to BPDE only; the high variance observed in the 4 hour pre-incubation plates was the reason the RPA value lacked statistical significance. When MNCs were pre-exposed to BSO for 14 hours prior to addition of BPDE, RPA (12.0 \pm 0.7%) returned to levels similar to the BPDE control group. Cell viability was not affected following exposure to 150 μ M BSO for 14 hours or BPDE for 2 hours, indicating this dose of BSO was not fatal to the cells (Table 3.2).

Table 3.1 Average RPAs and Standard Errors (SE) from BPDE-DNA Adduct Analysisof MNCs Exposed to 150 μM BSO and 0.5 μM BPDE

Pre-exposure time with BSO (hr)	Avg RPA (%)	SE (%)	n
no BSO	11.4	0.3	3
0 (coexposure)	13.1	0.9	3
2	19.4*	0.8	3
4	19.8	2.4	3
14	12.0	0.7	3

*statistically significant compared to 'no BSO' in student's t-test (p<0.05); n=number of repeat FIA/CE/LIF analyses

Exposure Time		Cell Viability	
BSO	BPDE	pre-exposure	post-exposure
2 h	2 h	98%	97%
4 h	2 h	98%	95%
4 h	-	98%	98%
14 h	-	98%	98%

Table 3.2 Cell Viabilities Following Exposure to 150 µM BSO and/or 0.5 µM BPDE

Pre-treatment with BSO for 2 hours was chosen as the optimal exposure time for BPDE-DNA adduct formation. Figure 3.2 displays typical electropherograms for MNCs exposed to BSO, BPDE, and BSO + BPDE. Peak 2 (BPDE-DNA adduct complex peak) was not present in cells exposed to BSO only. Peak 2 from cells exposed to BSO + BPDE was found to be approximately double that of cells exposed only to BPDE. RPA values for cells exposed to BSO, BPDE, or BSO + BPDE were $1.1 \pm 0.5\%$, $11.4 \pm 0.3\%$, and $23.3 \pm 1.2\%$, respectively. These RPA values represent the average RPA from three separate incubation plates, and are in good agreement with the results from the initial experiment (Table 3.1). The differences in RPA values between the three groups were all statistically significant (p<0.05).



Figure 3.2 Sample electropherograms from FIA/CE/LIF adduct analysis following cellular exposure to 150 μ M BSO only, 0.5 μ M BPDE only, or 150 μ M BSO + 0.5 μ M BPDE (two hours apart). Peak 1: free 2^o and 2^o-1^o antibody complexes; Peak 2: 2^o-1^o-BPDE-DNA complexes.

3.4 Discussion

BSO, a selective inhibitor of γ -GCS, is the most widely used GSH depleting agent [8]. Following inhibition of γ -GCS, cells continue to use GSH for normal cellular processes; this eventually depletes cellular stores of GSH [8]. The rate of GSH depletion depends on the rate at which GSH is used, and this varies from tissue to tissue.

In the present study, the optimal pre-incubation time was both 2 hours and 4 hours, although the 4 hour pre-incubation lacked statistical significance. Pre-incubation times of 0 hours and 14 hours did not alter the formation of BPDE-DNA adducts compared to controls. Because BSO requires time to deplete GSH [8], it is expected that 0 hours of pre-incubation would not have a major effect on GSH levels. However, it is not clearly understood why BPDE-DNA adduct levels in the 14 hour BSO incubation plates were similar to control levels. Other studies have shown that BSO causes GSH depletion in MNCs over a range of exposure times and concentrations, varying from 2-72 hours and 10-1000 μ M, respectively [22-25]. Based on these results, GSH levels should still be depleted after 14 hours of exposure to 150 μ M BSO.

BSO binds very tightly, though not covalently, to γ -GCS [8]. BSO has an initial binding constant of ~100 μ M (for rat γ -GCS), and is considered an irreversible γ -GCS inhibitor [20]. However, over time, BSO may dissociate from γ -GCS, allowing γ -GCS to once again catalyze GSH formation. Although the dissociation rate is extremely slow (1-3% per hour), even a small amount of available γ -GCS can rapidly replete GSH when

84

initial GSH levels are low [8]. Alternatively, BSO may have induced transcription of genes encoding γ -GCS, as has been observed previously [21,22]. This may have generated sufficient γ -GCS to replenish GSH after 14 hours of BSO exposure. Lee et al. found significant variations in the rates of GSH depletion and GSH recovery among different rat tissues following exposure to BSO [23]. GSH regeneration was fastest in the liver and slowest in the heart, with GSH nadirs ranging from 5 hours to 24 hours. Therefore, the possibility exists that GSH levels had been repleted after 14 hours. However, because we did not measure cellular GSH levels in parallel with the DNA adduct analysis, we are not certain whether the adduct level observed in the 14 hour incubation plate was due to a repletion of GSH or as a result of other cellular processes.

Another possible explanation for the lower adduct level observed in the 14 hour plate, compared to the 2 or 4 hour BSO plates, may be due an induction of alternative BPDE detoxification pathways. For example, the detoxification of BPDE catalyzed by epoxide hydrolase may have been induced in the 14 hour plates but not the 2 or 4 hour plates. A previous study has shown that in the absence of glutathione, there was an increase in the level of epoxide hydrolase-derived metabolic products of the carcinogen styrene oxide, indicating induction of epoxide hydrolase when GST detoxification is minimized [24]. If a loss of cellular GSH for an extended period of time (ie. 14 hrs) allows for the induction of epoxide hydrolase, then this offers an alternative explanation for the effects observed in our study. Experiments assessing epoxide hydrolase activity following exposure to BSO and BPDE would allow us to confirm or rule out this possibility. We found that a depletion of GSH in MNCs resulted in an increase in BPDE-DNA adduct formation. Because BSO reduces GST activity [25], the increase in adduct formation is likely the result of a decrease in BPDE detoxification caused by a loss of GST enzyme activity. It is possible that the depletion of GSH affected other cellular processes such as BPDE efflux or uptake, however cellular uptake of PAHs is likely mediated by lipoproteins, albumin, and/or fatty acids [26,27]. Alternatively, GSH may react spontaneously with electrophiles, however these reactions most often require catalysis by GST enzymes [8]. The increased BPDE-DNA adduct formation observed in this study is likely attributed to a loss of GST activity. In future work, measures of GST activity following BSO exposure may help to support this conclusion. Our finding in this study is consistent with other results suggesting that GST polymorphisms associated with a decrease in GST activity correlate with increased BPDE-DNA adduct formation [28-30]. Because GST enzymes play an important role in the formation of BPDE-DNA adducts, it is important that GST enzyme activity and BPDE detoxification be considered when BPDE-DNA adducts in MNCs are used as biomarkers of exposure.

3.5 Conclusion

In the present study, the role of GSH in BPDE detoxification in MNCs was assessed. When MNCs were exposed to a GSH depleting agent prior to BPDE exposure, the formation of BPDE-DNA adducts increased significantly compared to BPDE exposure alone. This suggests that GSH, and possibly GST enzymes, play an important role in the detoxification of BPDE in MNCs. Thus, GST activity and BPDE detoxification should be taken into consideration when MNC BPDE-DNA adducts are used as biomarkers of exposure.

Using FIA/CE/LIF as a detection method for BPDE-DNA adduct analysis, we observed significant differences in adduct formation between cells exposed to various contaminants. Thus, this study verified FIA/CE/LIF as a suitable method for *in vitro* analysis of BPDE-DNA adducts. *In vitro* studies utilizing this method may help to further characterize BPDE-DNA adducts, and improve our understanding of the mechanisms of BaP carcinogenesis.

3.6 References

- [1] S.K. Srivastava, S.C. Watkins, E. Schuetz, S.V. Singh. Role of glutathione conjugate efflux in cellular protection against benzo[a]pyrene-7,8-diol-9,10-epoxide-induced DNA damage. Mol. Carcinog. 33 (2002) 156-162.
- [2] Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (ATSDR). Toxicological profile for polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. (1995). Retrieved from <u>http://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/toxprofiles/tp69.pdf</u> on 12/09/06.
- X. Hu, S.K. Srivastava, H. Xia, C. Awasthi, S.V. Singh. An alpha class mouse glutathione S-transferase with exceptional catalytic efficiency in the conjugation of glutathione with 7,8-dihydroxy-9,10,-oxy-7,8,9,10-tetrahydrobenzo(a)pyrene. J. Biol. Chem. 271 (1996) 32684-32688.
- [4] I.G. Robertson, H. Jensson, B. Mannervik, B. Jernstrom. Glutathione transferases in rat lung: The presence of transferases 7-7, highly efficient in the conjugation of glutathione with the carcinogenic (+)-7,8-dihydroxy-9,10-oxy-7,8,9,10-tetrahydrobenzo(a)pyrene. Carcinogenesis. 7 (1986) 295-299.
- [5] S.K. Srivastava, X. Hu, H. Xia, R.J. Bleicher, H.A. Zaren, J.L. Orchard, S. Awasthi, S.V. Singh. ATP-dependent transport of glutathione conjugate of 7,8-dihydroxy-9,10-oxy-7,8,9,10-tetrahydrobenzo[a[pyrene in murine hepatic canalicular plasma membrane vesicles. Biochem. J. 332 (1998) 799.
- [6] R.C. Strange, P.W. Jones, A.A. Fryer. Glutathione S-transferase: Genetics and role in toxicology. Toxicol. Lett. 112-113 (2000) 357-363.
- [7] O.W. Griffith, A. Meister. Potent and specific inhibition of glutathione synthesis by buthionine sulfoximine. J. Biol. Chem. 254 (1979) 7558-7560.
- [8] O.W. Griffith. Biologic and pharmacologic regulation of mammalian glutathione synthesis. Free Radical Biology & Medicine. 27 (1999) 922-935.
- [9] H.H. Bailey. L-S,R-buthionine sulfoximine: Historical development and clinical issues. Chem. Biol. Int. 112 (1998) 239-254.
- [10] S. Hesse, G. Krupski-Brennstuhl, O. Cumpelik, M. Mezger, F. Wiebel. Glutathione depletion supresses conjugation of benzo(a)pyrene metabolites and trans-7,8-dihydroxy-7,8-dihydrobenzo(a)pyrene metabolites with glutathione but does not affect their binding to DNA in C3H/10T1/2 mouse fibroblasts. Carcinogenesis. 8 (1987) 1051-1058.

- [11] S. Hiruma, M. Kimura, K. Lehmann, P. Gopalan-Kriczky, G.Z. Qin, H. Shinzuka, K. Sato, P.D. Lotlikar. Potentiation of aflatoxin B₁-induced hepatocarcinogenesis in the rat by pretreatment with buthionine sulfoximine. Cancer Lett. 113 (1997) 103-109.
- [12] M. Matsuo, R. Uenishi, T. Shimada, S. Yamanaka, M. Yabuki, K. Utsomi, M. Sagai. Diesel exhaust particle-induced cell death of human leukemic promyelocytic cells HL-60 and their variant cells HL-NR6. Biol. Pharm. Bull. 24 (2001) 357-363.
- [13] J.S. Armstrong, K.K. Steinauer, B. Hornung, J.M. Irish, P. Lecane, G.W. Birrell, D.M. Peehl, S.J. Knox. Role of glutathione depletion and reactive oxygen species generation in apoptotic signaling in a human B lymphoma cell line. Cell Death Diff. 9 (2002) 252-263.
- [14] S.K. Srivastava, H. Xia, A. Pal, X. Hu, J.X. Guo, S.V. Singh. Potentiation of benzo(a)pyrene-induced pulmonary and forestomach tumorigenesis in mice by D,L-buthionine-S,R-sulfoximine-mediated tissue glutathione depletion. Cancer Lett. 153 (2000) 35-39.
- [15] F.L. Chung, D. Komninou, L. Zhang, R. Nath, J. Pan, S. Amin, J. Richie. Glutathione depletion enhances the formation of endogenou cyclic DNA adducts derived from t-4-hydroxy-2-nonenal in rat liver. Chem. Res. Toxicol. 18 (2005) 24-27.
- S. Pavanello, A. Pulliero, E. Siwinska, D. Mielzynska, E. Clonfero. Reduced nucleotide excision repair and GSTM1-null genotypes influence anti-BaPDE-DNA adduct levels in mononuclear white blood cells of highly PAH-exposed coke oven workers. Carcinogenesis. 26 (2005) 169-175.
- [17] M. Peluso, M. Neri, G. Margarino, C. Mereu, A. Munnia, M. Ceppi, M. Buratti, R. Felletti, F. Stea, R. Quaglia, R. Puntoni, E. Taioli, S. Garte, S. Bonassi. Comparison of DNA adduct levels in nasal mucosa, lymphocytes and bronchial mucosa of cigarette smokers and interaction with metabolic gene polymorphisms. Carcinogenesis. 25 (2004) 2459-2465.
- [18] R. Pastorelli, A. Cerri, M. Mezzetti, E. Consonni, L. Airoldi. Effect of DNA repair gene polymorphisms on BPDE-DNA adducts in human lymphocytes. Int. J. Cancer. 100 (2002) 9-13.
- [19] M. Rojas, I. Cascorbi, K. Alexandrov, E. Kriek, G. Auburtin, L. Mayer, A. Kopp-Schneider, I. Roots, H. Bartsch. Modulation of benzo[a]pyrene diolepoxide-DNA adduct levels in human white blood cells by CYP1A1, GSTM1 and GSTT1 polymorphism. Carcinogenesis. 21 (2000) 35-41.

- [20] O.W. Griffith. Mechanism of action, metabolism, and toxicity of buthionine sulfoximine and its higher homologs, potent inhibitors of glutathione synthesis.
 J. Biol. Chem. 257 (1982) 13704-13712.
- [21] P.J. Ciaoccio, H. Shen, A.K. Jaiswal, H. Lyttle, K.D. Tew. Modulation of detoxification gene expression in human colon HT29 cells by glutathione-Stransferase inhibitors. Mol. Pharmacol. 48 (1995) 639-647.
- [22] F. Ali-Osman, G. Antoun, H. Wang, S. Rajagopal, E. Gagucas. Buthionine sulfoximine induction of gamma-L-glutamyl-L-cysteine synthetase gene expression, kinetics of glutathione depletion and resynthesis, and modulation of carmustine-induced DNA-DNA crosslinking and cytotoxicity in human glioma cells. Mol. Pharmacol. 49 (1996) 1012-1020.
- [23] F.Y. Lee, M.J. Allalunis Turner, D.W. Siemann. Depletion of tumour versus normal tissue glutathione by buthionine sulfoximine. Br. J. Cancer. 56 (1987) 33-38.
- [24] B.R. Smith, J. Van Anda, J.R. Fouts, J.R. Bend. Estimation of the styrene 7,8oxide-detoxifying potential of epoxide hydrolase in glutathione-depleted, perfused rat livers. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 227 (1983) 491-498.
- [25] J.P. Fruehauf, S. Zonis, M. AlBassam, A. Kyshtoobayeva, C. Dasgupta, T. Milovanovic, R.J. Parker, A.C. Buzaid. Selective and synergistic activity of L-S,R-buthionine sulfoximine on malignant melanoma is accompanied by decreased expression of glutathione-S-transferase. Pigment Cell Res. 10 (1997) 236-249.
- [26] A.L. Plant, D.M. Benson, L.C. Smith. Cellular uptake and intracellular localization of benzo(a)pyrene by digital fluorescence imaging microscopy. J Cell Biol. 100 (1985) 1295-1308.
- [27] H. Coulomb, Z. Gu, S. Audu, I. Chouroulinkov. The uptake and release of benzo(a)pyrene and benzo(e)pyrene *in vitro* by syrian hamster embryo cells as a function of serum concentration. Carcinogenesis. 2 (1981) 523-527.
- [28] M. Lodovici, C. Luceri, F. Guglielmi, C. Bacci, V. Akpan, M.L. Fonnesu, V. Boddi, P. Dolara. Benzo(a)pyrene diolepoxide (BPDE)-DNA adduct levels in leukocytes of smokers in relation to polymorphism of CYP1A1, GSTM1, GSTP1, GSTT1, and mEH. Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev. 13 (2004) 1342-1348.

- [29] D. Butkiewicz, E. Grzybowska, K. Hemminki, S. Ovrebo, A. Haugen, G. Motykiewicz, M. Chorazy. Modulation of DNA adduct levels in human mononuclear white blood cells and granulocytes by CYP1A1 CYP2D6 and GSTM1 genetic polymorphisms. Mutat Res. 415 (1998) 97-108.
- [30] G.S. Guven, M. Guven, I. Onaran, T. Ulutin, S. Hacihanefioglu. The effect of glutathione S-transferase M1 genotype on benzo[a]pyrene-induced sister chromatid exchanges and chromosomal aberrations in peripheral blood lymphocytes. Turk J Med Sci. 35 (2005) 79-84.

Chapter 4 Detection of BPDE-DNA Adducts in MNCs of Smokers

4.1 Introduction

The use of DNA adducts as a measure of carcinogen exposure provides a more realistic approach to exposure assessments than ambient concentrations, as DNA adducts identify the amount of substance that has interacted with DNA. Many studies have sought to identify the relationship between smoking and BPDE-DNA adduct formation, in hopes of potentially using BPDE-DNA adducts as biomarkers of cigarette exposure [1-5]. However, it is not clear which measures of smoke exposure, such as pack-years, number of daily cigarettes, or cigarette tar content, best relate adducts to smoking [6]. The lack of consistency in this area of research suggests that the relationship between smoking and BPDE-DNA adducts requires further investigation.

The majority of the above-mentioned studies utilized the ³²P-postlabelling assay for adduct detection. Perhaps the inconsistencies lie in the method of detection method, as possible introduction of artifacts and/or lack of specificity may have confounded the results. FIA/CE/LIF is a highly specific method that avoids the introduction of artifacts; use of this method for adduct analysis may potentially provide a better estimate of actual BPDE-DNA adduct levels in MNCs of exposed individuals. Improved DNA adduct detection may help to clarify the relationship between smoking and adduct formation. In the present experiment, we obtained blood from smokers and performed BPDE-DNA adduct analysis. The study was preliminary in nature; only two smokers were tested and smoking status was the only personal information provided. Nevertheless, we were able to test the suitability of FIA/CE/LIF as a potential method for human biomonitoring studies.

4.2 Experimental Methods

One tube (6-7 mL) of whole blood was drawn from each of 2 smokers and 1 non-smoker. The investigator was blinded to smoker status throughout the entire analysis. Isolation of MNCs and extraction of DNA were performed immediately upon collection of blood. Detailed procedures have been previously described in Chapter 2.

All immunoassay and electrophoretic conditions remained the same as described in Chapter 2, with the exception of DNA concentration. The DNA concentration was increased from 50 to $150 \mu g/mL$ in attempts to improve detection.

4.3 **Results and Discussion**

Figure 4.1 displays electropherograms from two smokers and one non-smoker. The BPDE-DNA adduct complex peak (peak 2) is present in both smokers, while this peak is not seen in the non-smoker. This indicates the presence of BPDE-DNA adducts in MNCs of smokers. However, in both smokers, peak 2 is very small. The RPA values



Figure 4.1 Electropherograms from BPDE-DNA adduct analysis of MNCs from 2 smokers and 1 non-smoker. Peak 1: free 2^0 and 2^{0} - 1^{0} antibody complexes; Peak 2: 2^{0} - 1^{0} -BPDE-DNA complexes.

were not found to be significantly different for the smokers compared to the non-smoker (0.0, 1.6, and 0.9% for smoker 1, smoker 2, and non-smoker, respectively). Thus, peak 2 is considered detectable but not quantifiable. A DNA concentration of 150 μ g/mL, rather than 50 μ g/mL, from smoker 1 was analyzed to see if increasing the DNA concentration would improve detection. However, the signal did not increase. The RPA of the BPDE-DNA adduct complex peak using 150 μ g/mL DNA was 1.5%, which was similar to the RPA using 50 μ g/mL of DNA (1.6%). This suggests a possibility that the level of BPDE-DNA adducts in smoker 1 was very low.

Another point to note is that the BPDE-DNA adduct complex retention time was different for the two smokers. Peak 2 in smoker 1 elutes at 2.8 min, while peak 2 in smoker 2 is seen at about 2 min. A possible reason for this difference could be because the blood from the two smokers was processed and analyzed on different days. There may have been more DNA fragmentation in smoker 2 during the DNA isolation process, resulting in smaller DNA that eluted more quickly. Alternatively, differences in buffer pH, capillary conditioning, and/or capillary cleanliness could also be the source of varying retention times. However, regardless of this discrepancy, peak 2 in both smokers can still be attributed to the BPDE-DNA adduct complex, as it is normal for retention time to vary slightly between runs.

As the BPDE-DNA adduct complex peak was small in both smokers, further improvements to this method are necessary. Perhaps a concentration of DNA higher than 150 μ g/mL will be required, either by drawing more blood from donors or finding a DNA
isolation method with higher extraction efficiency. Another way to improve sensitivity may be to use a sheath flow cuvette for off-column detection rather than on-column detection. The column-sample interface in on-column detection produces light scattering, thereby increasing background; this is avoided with the use of a sheath flow cuvette as there is no light scattering at the sample-sheath interface [7]. Sheath flow cuvettes can provide concentration detection limits up to four orders of magnitude better than oncolumn fluorescence detectors [7-9].

It is also possible that these two smokers simply had very low levels of adducts. Because we did not include asking any personal information of the donors in our ethical approval, we could not determine how much these individuals smoked, how long they have been smoking for, when they last smoked, or the brand name of their cigarettes. DNA adduct analyses of individuals known to be heavy smokers may clarify whether the low level of detected DNA adducts is due to the method or due to low adduct levels in the smoker.

Analysis of a standard with a known concentration of BPDE-DNA adducts would allow the determination of method sensitivity. Comparing results of BPDE-DNA adduct analysis of the same MNC samples to other acceptable adduct analysis methods may also help to verify suitability of FIA/CE/LIF. Future work in this area will allow us to identify whether FIA/CE/LIF is an appropriate method for human DNA adduct biomonitoring.

4.4 Conclusion

The goal for this portion of the project was to see if it was possible to detect BPDE-DNA adducts in MNCs of smokers using FIA-CE-LIF. We were able to observe the BPDE-DNA adduct complex peak in smokers, however the peak was not quantifiable. Although the lack of quantifiable adducts may be due to low levels of BPDE-DNA adducts in the donors' blood, it is likely that the sensitivity of the method will still need to be improved. These improvements for detection are necessary if this method is to be used for BPDE-DNA adduct detection in humans exposed to BaP.

4.5 References

- R.W.L. Godschalk, L.M. Maas, N. Van Zandwijk, L.J. Van't Veer, A. Breedijk,
 P.J.A. Borm, J. Verhaert, J.C.S. Kleinjans, F.J. Van Schooten. Differences in aromatic-DNA adduct levels between alveolar macrophages and subpopulations of white blood cells from smokers. Carcinogenesis. 19 (1998) 819-825.
- S. Shantakumar, M.D. Gammon, S.M. Eng, S.K. Sagiv, M.M. Gaudet, S.L. Teitelbaum, J.A. Britton, M.B. Terry, A. Paykin, T.L. Young, L.W. Wang, Q. Wang, S.D. Stellman, J. Beyea. Residential environmental exposures and other characteristics associated with detectable PAH-DNA adducts in peripheral mononuclear cells in a population-based sample of adult females. J. Exposure Anal. Environ. Epidemiol. 15 (2005) 482-490.
- [3] J.K. Wiencke, S.W. Thurston, K.T. Kelsey, A. Varkonyi, J.C. Wain, E.J. Mark, D.C. Christiani. Early age at smoking initiation and tobacco carcinogen DNA damage in the lung. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 91 (1999) 614-619.
- [4] F.J. Van Schooten, F.E. van Leeuwen, M.J. Hillebrand, M.E. de Rijke, A.A. Hart, H.G. van Veen, S. Oosterink, E. Kreik. Determination of benzo[a]pyrene diol epoxide-DNA adducts in white blood cell DNA from coke-oven workers: The impact of smoking. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 82 (1990) 927-933.
- [5] M. Lodovici, C. Luceri, F. Guglielmi, C. Bacci, V. Akpan, M.L. Fonnesu, V. Boddi, P. Dolara. Benzo(a)pyrene diolepoxide (BPDE)-DNA adduct levels in leukocytes of smokers in relation to polymorphism of CYP1A1, GSTM1, GSTP1, GSTT1, and mEH. Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev. 13 (2004) 1342-1348.
- [6] J.K. Wiencke. DNA adduct burden and tobacco carcinogenesis. Oncogene. 21 (2002) 7376-7391.
- S. Wu, N.J. Dovichi. High-sensitivity fluorescence detector for fluorescein isothiocyanate derivatives of amino acids separated by capillary zone electrophoresis. J. Chrom. A. 480 (1989) 141-155.
- [8] W.F. Nirode, T.D. Staller, R.O. Cole, M.J. Sepaniak. Evaluation of a sheath flow cuvette for postcolumn fluorescence derivitization of DNA fragments separated by capillary electrophoresis. Anal. Chem. 70 (1998) 182-186.
- [9] F.Y. Cheng, S. Wu, D.Y. Chen, N.J. Dovichi. Interaction of capillary zone electrophoresis with a sheath flow cuvette detector. Anal. Chem. 62 (1990) 496-503.

Chapter 5 Conclusions and Future Work

This project involved the development of a FIA/CE/LIF method for BPDE-DNA adduct analysis in MNCs. The advantages of FIA/CE/LIF over other currently used adduct detection techniques include high specificity, fast analysis time, no digestion of DNA, and no use of radioactive material. The optimized FIA/CE/LIF method was used in two different applications; firstly, an *in vitro* assay, and secondly, a human biomonitoring study. The *in vitro* study utilizing FIA/CE/LIF for MNC adduct analysis was successful, as we were able to confirm that GST and GSH are important in the detoxification of BPDE in MNCs. The use of FIA/CE/LIF for human biomonitoring experiments requires further research, as BPDE-DNA adducts in MNCs of smokers were detectable but not quantifiable.

Use of FIA/CE/LIF in future *in vitro* studies may further assess the role of GST enzymes in BPDE detoxification. Specific reagents can be used to block individual GST isozymes to evaluate which forms of GST are most significant in BPDE detoxification. Alternatively, *in vitro* studies can focus on examining BPDE-DNA repair processes. This can be done by comparing nucleotide excision and base excision repair gene polymorphisms with BPDE-induced adduct formation.

Future work may also involve improving CE/LIF method sensitivity through use of a sheath flow cuvette. Also, FIA/CE/LIF analysis of standards with known adduct concentrations will allow the determination of method sensitivity and the quantification of adducts. BPDE-DNA adduct analysis of MNCs from additional smokers will help to elucidate whether this method is suitable for biomonitoring. If the method is proven useful to detect adducts in exposed individuals, potential projects may include comparisons of MNC adduct levels to various individual cigarette smoking measures (pack years, cigarettes/day, cigarette tar content, etc), assessment of adducts in MNCs of individuals following consumption of charred meats, and/or assessment of adducts in workers exposed to diesel exhaust. Additionally, *in vivo* studies evaluating the relationship between BPDE-DNA adducts in blood and carcinogenesis may help to clarify the association between BPDE induced DNA damage and cancer.

Utilizing FIA/CE/LIF for BPDE-DNA adduct studies may help to further characterize the relationship between BaP exposure and BPDE-DNA adduct formation. This may improve our understanding of the practical application of DNA adduct data in risk assessment.